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Thursday, September 9, 2010

--- Upon commencing at 9:39 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  I wonder if there are any preliminary matters before we get going this morning?  Mr. King.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. KING:  Just three, I think, sir.

The first is just let the Panel and everyone else know that we have answered 11 of the 16 undertakings from Tuesday.  We filed those and sent them around to the parties towards the end of business yesterday, and we are working away on the others.  If people need copies, I have four or five hard copies here.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. KING:  That was number 1.

Two, just a reminder that we didn't deal with the interim rates relief requested on Tuesday.

And then, third, something that we have just started talking about this morning, which I think Mr. Millar has at least given you a heads-up on was the possibility -- and I have had a chance to discuss this with Mr. Stoll and Mr. Buonaguro, and I understand we have also e-mailed Mr. Tunley.


What we're discussing at this point is the potential of essentially NRG removing requesting the relief for the Board to decide upon an IR model and proceed to establish base rates for this year, and then obviously, without parties' prejudice to bring back an IR model.  But that is what we are thinking about.

We haven't discussed all of the implementation measures that go along with that, but what that means from a practical perspective today is I think we will have cross-examination of Mr. Grey by myself and whatever other party wants to cross-examine, and then we will move to Mr. Todd.  And we had talked, even before this became a possibility, of dealing with cost allocation on its own with Mr. Todd.

I don't know if Mr. Buonaguro or Mr. Stoll have anything to add to it.

MR. STOLL:  I am...

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have been pushing buttons here.  I did e-mail Mr. Tunley to let him know, so we don't anticipate there being any different position from the town, but technically he is thinking about it through e-mail.

I think, yes, that the critical point is that the Board wouldn't be faced with oral examination on IRM today and making a decision on IRM one way or another.  The issue of IRM may or may not come before the Board after the base rates are set and the base year is under way, similar to what happened in Union and Enbridge where they set a base year, and then applied after that.

That concept is what we're presenting the Board now, and then we will work out the details over lunch or something like that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Stoll.

MR. STOLL:  I am in agreement with what Richard said.  The one thing that just occurred to me is I think Union Gas is still technically an intervenor.  Should we inform them, as well, of what we are contemplating?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  I think all parties will have to be on side with this.  So we understand we have partial settlement on this and they should be brought into the loop, as well.

The one question I have is are we confident enough we are not running the risk of not taking advantage of Mr. Todd being here and having to revisit this within this process?  Is there a chance that the company will want to continue on with this proposal, or are we far enough along we are not going to take advantage?

Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  We chatted about what to do today, and subject to what Mr. King says and Mr. Stoll says, we had already thought about splitting this panel into the two concepts that they're addressing, so doing all the cost allocation evidence first so that all of that evidence is on the transcript together, and then doing the IRM second, in any event.

So what I thought we might do is do that, and then whenever we are done the cost allocation evidence, have our break and we can try to firm it up.  And if there is a chance that it doesn't fly, that the proposal doesn't fly, then we come back after the break and do the IRM.

MR. KING:  I might have been too cautious in my explanation of the potential for this.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. KING:  We can sort of settle this.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We have another hearing date tomorrow, if need be.  And if you need the evening and Mr. Todd is available tomorrow, he could come in after Mrs. McShane tomorrow, if that is required, but I understand from you, Mr. King, that that is not likely to happen.

MR. KING:  That's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Mr. Stoll, I believe you have a witness that you would like to present this morning.

MR. STOLL:  I would ask that he be sworn in, and the witness is Mr. Jim Grey.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. STOLL:  Just as a procedural matter, I distributed to Mr. King and Mr. Millar a brief file, a biography for Mr. Grey.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Stoll.

MR. MILLAR:  That is Exhibit K2.1, and it is the bio for Mr. Grey.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  BIOGRAPHY OF MR. JAMES GREY.
JAMES GREY, SWORN

MR. QUESNELLE:  Whenever you are ready, Mr. Stoll.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Stoll:

MR. STOLL:  Can you state your name for the record?

MR. GREY:  James Gamble Grey.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And what is your employment currently?

MR. GREY:  I am the CEO of IGPC Ethanol Inc.

MR. STOLL:  How long have you held that position?

MR. GREY:  Since April of 2008.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And since April of 2008, you have been responsible for overseeing the dealings with NRG and IGPC from an operational standpoint?

MR. GREY:  That's correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And just so we can understand IGPC's position, IGPC is disputing the total capital cost of the pipeline construction; correct?

MR. GREY:  That's correct.  We're disputing the $8.5 million.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And it is IGPC's position that once -- if the Board finds it appropriate in their jurisdiction, establishes an appropriate total capital cost, that that would be plugged into the formula and generate an aid to construct and a remainder, which would be the amount that goes into rate base?

MR. GREY:  That's correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And what are the areas, generally speaking, of concern of IGPC with respect to NRG's claimed costs?

MR. GREY:  That there is four main areas.  The first is the inclusion of the administration penalty in the capital cost.

The second is the calculation of the accrued interest.  The third is both the rate and the time of Mark Bristoll as project management, and then the last is the legal costs.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

Thank you.  Okay, those are my questions on the capital costs.  I just want to put a couple of other questions.

What was the date that gas was first nominated for the pipeline?

MR. GREY:  Gas was first nominated for the pipeline July the 1st, despite me having tried to contact Mark Bristoll to discuss the start-up of the plant and the fact that we would not need gas for some time after that, and we eventually did burn gas for start-up purposes throughout September, and then commissioned the plant in October.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And that is September 2008, October 2008?

MR. GREY:  Yes, yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And you did author and send the letter to Mr. Bristoll that is found at the tab I of the submissions of IGPC?  It is the June 24th.

MR. GREY:  The June 24th letter, yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And when did you receive information that the gas had -- that the nomination had in fact occurred?

MR. GREY:  I received it somewhat after the fact.  Union Gas was aware that we had a relationship with Blackstone Energy to buy our gas for us.  They contacted Blackstone, knowing that we would be subject to very high penalties if we had not purchased gas.  And I was contacted by Blackstone at the time.

MR. STOLL:  And do you recall the date that that occurred?

MR. GREY:  On or about July 1st.  Just before July 1st, Canada Day.

MR. STOLL:  So would that be June 30th, then?

MR. GREY:  That would be correct, yes.

MR. STOLL:  And do you recall what Blackstone had indicated the penalty would be?

MR. GREY:  I believe it was $9 a gigajoule.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And was the amount nominated the full contractual amount for IGPC?

MR. GREY:  Yes, it was.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Is it your understanding that prior to June 30th, there could have been action taken to avoid the nomination?

MR. GREY:  Yes.  It's my understanding that Union Gas had attempted to contact Mark Bristoll about the potential --

MR. KING:  I apologize.  Can I just interrupt?

I recall -- and I am just looking at the transcript from Tuesday and I am reading from your preliminary comments, Mr. Chair.

I thought non-rate issues, we weren't going to deal with.  And I am looking, in particular, at page 10, where we were sort of sorting out what the scope of cross-examination would be within this proceeding.

And Mr. Millar gave his understanding, and then towards the bottom of page 10, Mr. Quesnelle, you indicated that you had sort of thought it would be a slight tweak to that.  And that, well, my thinking -- this is your quote -- my thinking is that certain elements that have no bearing on rates, that we wouldn't put those questions to the panel that is here to present their case for rates, and that the arguments can be made on that separately.

So I had not prepared my cross-examination of Mr. Grey, looking to rejig the nomination issue, because that is a non-rates issue, nor was I going to get into the question of their application for costs with respect to the two motions, namely June 2007 and February 2008.

So I just want to be clear what we're doing.

MR. STOLL:  No, I am basically done.  I had understood from my -- from the discussion that certain questions around the nomination may be dealt with from some of the comments, but I may -- and I was basically done.  I was just trying to establish a timeline, because in my position, the fact that there is a nomination in some of these other issues go to the fact the pipeline should have gone into rate base at that time, not three months later.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So if this is a timing issue, Mr. King, that is how I was interpreting this.

MR. KING:  I was initially, until he started talking about pricing, obviously.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  I think we are all on the same page, that anything that you are going forward with, Mr. Stoll, if you could ensure that it has bearing on rates, then, that would be fine.

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  I am actually done at this point.  MR. QUESNELLE:  That's great.  Okay.  Thank you.  Thanks, Mr. King.
Cross-Examination by Mr. King:

MR. KING:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good morning, Mr. Grey.

MR. GREY:  Good morning.

MR. KING:  I am -- I don't have a lot for you, hopefully.  This won't take much time.  I just want to give you an overview of what I will be referring to, and my approach.

As I said, I will be primarily referring to two documents.

The first is the material or the submission, the motion submission, that you made on August 3rd, and then -- and I assume that is at this point sort of the evidence of the company.

Then the second bit of material that I will be looking at is -- and referring to is the affidavit of Mr. Cowan, which is largely in response to your August 3rd motion.

Again, my approach is to focus on the rate issues and not have any discussion here today about the non-rate issues, which in my view are sort of largely for argument anyway.

Sir, this is your first time at the Energy Board?

MR. GREY:  That's correct.

MR. KING:  And I understand that -- from Mr. Stoll's comments, you joined IGPC in April 2008; is that correct?

MR. GREY:  That's correct.

MR. KING:  So you weren't around for the two motions that have been subject of much discussion in the context of this rates case, have you?

MR. GREY:  No, I wasn't.

MR. KING:  You certainly weren't around for the leave-to-construct proceeding in December 2006; correct?

MR. GREY:  That's correct.

MR. KING:  I take it you have -- are familiar with your August 3rd materials, and I am wondering whether you have had a chance to review Mr. Cowan's affidavit.  Have you?

MR. GREY:  I have.

MR. KING:  So you have sought to inform yourself about these matters as best you can, much like our witnesses, who are somewhat new to the relationship?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. KING:  They sought to educate themselves to the best they could about their --

MR. GREY:  As best I could, yes.

MR. KING:  I am going to spend a little bit of time on tab 6 of your August 3rd materials.

This is the summary table of your cost reconciliation.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Give us a second, Mr. King, please.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Your reference again, Mr. King, sorry?  Tab 6?

MR. KING:  Tab 6 of the August 3rd.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The summary table?

MR. KING:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We have it now, Mr. King.

MR. KING:  Really, I will be dealing with pages 2 and 3.

Did you prepare this schedule, sir?

MR. GREY:  I did not personally, no.

MR. KING:  Did Mr. Stoll prepare it?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. KING:  Did you have input into the schedule?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. KING:  So you understand the categorizations?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. KING:  For the benefit of the Board, there is, as you know, $1.1 million sort of being contested.  The pipeline was constructed for 8.6 million.  IGPC's position is that they should only pay for 7.5 million of it.  The original estimate, of course, was 9.1.

That 1.1 -- and correct me if I'm wrong -- the process of setting out this summary table was to sort of break down that 1.1 million into four categories, and these are categories of IGPC's making.

The first is inappropriate direct cost; inappropriate indirect cost; costs without documentation; and unreasonable costs.  And if I add up those four columns, I get 1.1 million, on that; is that right?

MR. GREY:  That's correct.

MR. KING:  And the relief requested in this motion and these motion materials were filed on the basis that you were asking the Board to settle upon the appropriate capital cost under the contract; correct?

MR. GREY:  Yes.  As the PCRA refers to the actual, reasonable capital cost.

MR. KING:  You brought this by way of a motion, because you wanted the capital cost under the contract to then inform the Board's decision-making when it got to rates?

MR. GREY:  That's correct.

MR. KING:  And is it IGPC's view that 1.1 million is also unreasonable to be included in rates?  Or is it just that the 1.1 million shouldn't be allowed as a capital cost under the contract?

MR. GREY:  I would say that the 1.1 million, whether or not it has been spent, has nothing to do or little to do, in most cases, with the actual capital cost of the pipeline, and therefore as far as the capital cost of the pipeline is concerned, should not be included in rate.

MR. KING:  So this table is the same -- notwithstanding that this table was filed for the purposes of resolution of a cost item under contract, you were seeking contractual resolution.  You're also saying that the same table would apply for the purposes of what capital costs should be included in rates; correct?

MR. GREY:  Rates and aid to construct.

MR. KING:  Fine.  Why don't we start with the easy column?  Because I don't know what -- I didn't come up with the phrases "inappropriate direct", "inappropriate indirect" and "unreasonable", so I don't know what they mean.  But I do know what "costs without documentation" mean.

Under that column, there are a few items for which IGPC says we're not going to pay because we don't have documentation, and the total of that column is $258,046.  Do you see that at the bottom of page 3?

MR. GREY:  I do.

MR. KING:  And in response, we have provided that documentation.  You would agree with that?

MR. GREY:  To be honest with you, I am not sure if we have received all of it yet, but I know that we have been receiving invoices related to that column.

MR. KING:  Well, you are aware that many of the items listed there were provided in Mr. Cowan's affidavit, because you have reviewed that; right?

MR. GREY:  Yes.  And it may well be, Mr. King.  I am just not aware that we may have received them all.

MR. KING:  I was under the impression that we had given you everything in Mr. Cowan's affidavit, with the exception of Mr. Bristoll's costs without documentation, which we just think you have had all along, anyways.

So now that you have seen that, are you satisfied that any of the numbers in those columns can be moved to the agreed to costs?

MR. GREY:  No, I wouldn't be satisfied.  I think we -- because we've only just received a lot of these invoices, I think we would want to review them to determine which categories they would fall into.

And if they're appropriate and if they are actual capital cost items for the pipeline, we would be more than happy to pay for them.

MR. KING:  Do you know if your counsel has reviewed them in the past week?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And so there is no update.  As far as you are concerned, you are still $1.1 million apart.  Would it be possible to get an undertaking to have you review the documentation we have provided to see if there are any costs that you can be -- that can be pulled out of dispute?

MR. GREY:  Certainly.

MR. MILLAR:  J2.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO REVIEW DOCUMENTATION AND TO ADVISE WHETHER ANY COSTS CAN BE PULLED OUT OF DISPUTE.

MR. KING:  In your opening -- I don't propose to go through docket entry by docket entry.  That is not what I am here to engage in, but you listed four general areas of costs that you believe are unreasonable or that shouldn't be paid by IGPC.  And you said those were the admin penalty, the calculation of the accrued interest, and then the last two items which I want to talk a bit about - I won't talk about the first two as much - the rate and time of Mr. Bristoll and the legal costs.

Those last two items, you will agree with me that is the lion's share?  The legal fees and Mr. Bristoll's fees amount to approximately $800,000 of the $1.1 million?

MR. GREY:  Yes, I believe that's correct.

MR. KING:  And I am wondering, because, again, I don't understand the columns and how amounts got allocated to the various columns -- and I will just give you an example.  My firm has $335,000 that we have included in the capital cost to the pipeline and that gets dumped into three categories, costs without documentation, inappropriate indirect and inappropriate direct.

I just want to probe a bit about what those mean, but maybe let's start at a higher level and see if we can agree on this.

The legal fees, the view of IGPC is they shouldn't be included.  How did you come to the view that a good portion of the legal fees, indeed more than 50 percent of my firm's time, shouldn't be included?  Did you look at just sort of the overall legal fees associated with the project and say, These are just too high?

MR. GREY:  No.  I think there was a bit more detail than that in the analysis, and, as a generality, I would say, looking at the invoices that we received for the legal fees for all firms, there is time included in the capital cost accounting for legal time spent in the two motions and a variety of other issues that are unrelated to the capital cost of the pipeline.  And, therefore, we categorize those as indirect costs, inappropriate indirect costs.

MR. KING:  So it could have been a mix.  You could have -- this I was getting from Mr. Stoll's cross-examination on Tuesday.  You could have -- in your view, there were certain proceedings that were NRG's, quote-unquote, "fault" and so that any legal fees associated with those should be disallowed; is that correct?

MR. GREY:  Well, I think as it relates to determining what the capital costs of the construction of the pipeline is concerned, yes.

MR. KING:  Again, I don't understand the buckets of money, but I presume that within some of the legal costs that you are contesting, included in that are the legal costs related to the February -- or the June 2007 motion and the February 2008 motion; correct?

MR. GREY:  That is correct.

MR. KING:  Now, again, I don't know how you got your numbers, but do those numbers represent -- is that all that those numbers represent?  In other words, did you produce those numbers and say all of that money relates to the February -- or the February 2008 and the June 2007 motion, or is it that plus other stuff?

MR. GREY:  I believe there are other issues in there, and I wouldn't be able to categorize them without reviewing it in more detail.

MR. KING:  Okay.  So...

MR. STOLL:  I was just going to offer to help out a little bit here, Richard.  Do you want an undertaking on the breakdown of some of these numbers?

MR. KING:  I don't want to -- I mean, I guess I am struggling, because I know the Board doesn't want circled, highlighted, colour-coded dockets.

MR. QUESNELLE:  But I think on this particular line that you are on, Mr. King, I think we would be interested in having that type of categorization.

I think that you are -- obviously, your cross is directed at what you consider to be important.  I think the Board recognizes it, as well.  And so on that, without getting into, as you put it earlier, going through a docket by docket, but I think a categorization of how the company has categorized it and how it arrived at those amounts would be of interest to the Board.

MR. STOLL:  Is that undertaking J...

MR. MILLAR:  It is J2.2, and could someone describe the undertaking so we have a common understanding?

MR. KING:  There is $400,000 -- $421,000.

MR. STOLL:  Correct.

MR. KING:  I don't know -- I guess, if you could categorize -- tie them to a real-life event or something as opposed to sort of categories.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Even if it is "other", I think what I heard the witness say were that there were other amounts beyond the two motions that are in dispute.

And so if we had the two motions and what you determined to be the amounts associated with those, based on what you have received in the records, what other elements go beyond that?

MR. STOLL:  And I think I referred to a couple of the items yesterday as far as the franchise issue, the police investigation issue that Mr. Thacker -- those were...

And I can -- the one, and I alluded to it yesterday, some of the moving numbers.  The first column, the "inappropriate direct cost", was related to the claimed contingency in the NRG response to the OEB IR.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the Board would be assisted by a breakdown.  If you can include that type of information in this undertaking, Mr. Stoll, that would be appreciated.

MR. STOLL:  We can do that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It would be helpful.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J2.2, and it is a breakdown of the costs included in the $421,000; is that correct?

MR. STOLL:  I think it goes beyond that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If we could have the underpinning categories that are covered within these blanket headings, I think that would be appropriate.  You arrived at these numbers in a fashion --

MR. STOLL:  We did have a logic to the numbers.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We would like to see that logic.

MR. STOLL:  We can provide that in response to the undertaking.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF NUMBERS.

MR. KING:  Certainly, though, some of these costs, as you said -- it is your position that all of the costs related to the June 2007 motion and the February 2008 motion ought to be disallowed; correct?

MR. GREY:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. KING:  Okay.  Could you turn up paragraphs 34 to 36 of Mr. Cowan's affidavit?

MR. GREY:  I didn't bring it up with me.  If I could... it is right on my desk there.

Which paragraphs again?

MR. KING:  It is page 10, paragraph 34.  It starts at the bottom.

MR. GREY:  I have it.

MR. KING:  And over paragraphs 34 through 36, Mr. Cowan states that -- the June 29th motion, which was extraordinary, I know you haven't been at the OEB, but it is extraordinary in my view to have motion materials served at 7:00 o'clock at night and be able to convene the Board the next morning at 9 a.m.

But the premise of that emergency motion was that if NRG did not sign contracts by end of day, June 29th, the equity financing of the ethanol pipeline would disappear and the project would be done.  Is that your understanding?

MR. GREY:  That's my understanding.

MR. KING:  The contracts didn't get signed on June 29th, did they, sir?

MR. GREY:  No.  I don't believe they did.  Again, I wasn't there at the time, but...

MR. KING:  Can you, in the same book of materials, turn to tab F?

MR. GREY:  In the affidavit?

MR. KING:  Yes, it is tab F to Mr. Cowan's affidavit.  And once you get to tab F, it is page 8.

MR. GREY:  I don't have it.  I don't have tabs in my copy, so bear with me.

Sorry, I don't have this broken down by tab, so I am...

MR. KING:  That's fine.

MR. GREY:  I am not sure what I am looking for.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Stoll, do you have the reference there, if you could be of assistance?

MR. GREY:  If you can locate it for me.  All right.

MR. KING:  You are at page 8, sir?

MR. GREY:  I am at page 8.

MR. KING:  The Board was -- I will suggest to you the Board was aware that the convening of such a motion on such an urgent and emergency basis was extraordinary, and I am going to read into the record -- this is a factum of an NRG appeal to Divisional Court.

As you will know, NRG was assessed an administrative penalty at that proceeding for not signing the contracts.  And we have appealed that and perfected that appeal three years ago, with no response from anyone else.

And I just want to read into the record Mr. Kaiser's sort of preliminary comments at that proceeding, and it is on page 8.  He says:
"You are assuring us..."

He is speaking to Mr. Kovnats from Aird & Berlis.
"...that if this is not done -- in other words, these contracts don't get signed on June 29th -- the money is going back?"

Mr. Kovnats replies:   "Yes."

Mr. Kaiser says:
"Because Canada Trust is obligated legally to send it back and they will send it back."

And then further down, right before the reference, Mr. Kaiser again says:

"In other words, I'm trying to get to the practicalities here.  If you are telling me that this deal legally is going to fall apart, that's one thing.  If it is just an annoyance, and no doubt you are entitled to be annoyed, that is another thing."

And Mr. O'Leary confirms; he says:

"Sir, we don't believe it is an annoyance.  We believe the deal is real -- in real peril and jeopardy."

Do you see that?

MR. GREY:  Yes, I do.

MR. KING:  The deal didn't fall apart as a result of the contracts not being signed by June 29th, did it?

MR. GREY:  No, it didn't.

MR. KING:  And you will agree that there are significant legal fees incurred by NRG associated with that emergency motion; correct?

MR. GREY:  Correct.  May I add, though, that the fact that the deal didn't fall apart in no way goes to the point that it wasn't in great jeopardy of falling apart?

MR. KING:  It was an annoyance?

MR. GREY:  No, it was not.  In fact, it is my understanding -- again I wasn't there -- that if it wasn't for the fact that the Board had ruled so severely against NRG in that motion, that the deal would have fallen apart, that we would have had to return the funds out of escrow.

That would have led to our financing falling apart, which would have led to our government support falling apart.

MR. KING:  How can you be sure of that?  How can you be sure of that?  There was no -- what comfort would anyone have taken that NRG would have signed the contracts?

I am not disputing people were unpleased with NRG not signing the contracts.

MR. GREY:  This goes beyond being unpleased.  This is something -- and I have had very detailed discussions with our creditors about as well, and -- because I wanted to understand this.

And they have confirmed that this was, in fact, a very, very real and distinct threat to our project.

MR. KING:  Sir, I won't belabour the point.

My view is that there were costs incurred, significant legal costs incurred with respect to an emergency motion brought that wasn't an emergency.  But I will leave it there.  You have had your piece to say.

I would like to talk about the February 2008 motion.

I want to take you to tab 11 of your August 3rd submission.  This is the OEB decision in respect to that motion.

MR. GREY:  The March 12th decision?

MR. KING:  Correct.  Would you agree that this motion dealt with the level of financial assurance that IGPC had to provide to both NRG and Union Gas?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And there were two aspects to it.  The first was request for additional financial assurance from NRG for various items; correct?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And the other issue was additional security being sought by Union Gas; correct?

MR. GREY:  Yes.  I understand that to be the case.

MR. KING:  And at page 5, if you could turn up that, at the very top the Board in their Decision states:

"The IGPC position is that the $5.3 million letter of credit is established in the PCRA, and should not and cannot be increased by the Board."

And then the start of the next paragraph is:
"The Board does not accept this argument."

Then in the third paragraph, starting at the third sentence, the Board states:

"The fact is that Union is not going to provide service unless they receive financial assurance that they are entitled to in the amount of $881,000."

MR. GREY:  Mm-hmm.

MR. KING:  "Some of this assurance has already been 
provided or agreed to.  However an amount of $538,497 is not covered by the $5.3 million letter of credit that IGPC has agreed to provide NRG".

Do you see that?

MR. GREY:  I see that.

MR. KING:  Were you ordered to provide security to Union Gas?

MR. GREY:  I believe so.

MR. KING:  So if the subject matter of this particular motion was the quantum of financial assurance that you had to post, and the Board disagreed with you, your position that you ought not to provide additional assurance, and in fact ordered you to provide such assurance, why are my clients' legal costs associated with motion unreasonable, in your view?

MR. GREY:  Well, I think –- again, I apologize, I wasn't there -- but I think the primary focus of this motion was the fact that we had signed a PCRA agreement with NRG that outlines the level of financial security that we needed to provide for the construction of the pipeline, which was in the order of a little over $5 million, as was calculated by the formula, and that NRG requested that that level of security be increased to $32 million.  I think that was primarily the focus of this motion.

MR. KING:  You agreed with me earlier that the motion had two aspects.  One was assurance requested by us, and one was assurance requested by Union; correct?

MR. GREY:  Correct.

MR. KING:  Returning back to this table, we understand there were certain items, like these two motions, for which IGPC has formed a view that they ought not be responsible.

MR. GREY:  We are on tab 6 again?

MR. KING:  Correct.  I am not sure you need to pull it up.

MR. GREY:  Okay.

MR. KING:  And you had mentioned that there were, and Mr. Stoll had mentioned there were specific items, when combing through the dockets, that had caused some angst and were perhaps inappropriate in your view, and you have chosen to sort of highlight those.

So it was -- I take it it was never your view that the overall quantum of legal fees associated with the project were unreasonable?

MR. GREY:  No.  I think there are appropriate and necessary legal fees to be associated with a construction project.

MR. KING:  And the quantum of legal fees associated with this project is reasonable, in your view, then?

MR. GREY:  No.  No.  We are disputing a large portion of the legal fees that NRG has included in the costs of the project.

MR. KING:  Maybe I will try this.  Could you maybe go to the Cowan affidavit at tab C?  You better buy him some tabs, Scott.

MR. GREY:  I have it.

MR. STOLL:  My witness had to print this off when he was on vacation, so he wasn't provided with a tabbed copy by the law firm.

MR. KING:  And I just want to take you to tab C.  This is a letter we requested of MIG, and let me give you the backdrop.

When we got tab -- your tab 6 outlining the quantum of legal fees and Mr. Bristoll's fees that were at issue, the $800,000, again, we couldn't decipher the categories in any way, so we did a couple of things, as you will know from reviewing Mr. Cowan's affidavit.

The first is, you know, with the notion that what you were really disputing were the soft costs of this project, we contacted an engineering firm, MIG Engineering.  You are familiar with them, sir?

MR. GREY:  Yes, I am.

MR. KING:  And asked them to give us some sense of whether the overall soft costs were unreasonable, and so Mr. Cowan attached to his affidavit a letter from MIG dated August 26th.

And in that letter, MIG gives a rough outline of

the -- what I would call the non-hard costs and a percentage of what those might be for a typical pipeline project.  Do you see that?

MR. GREY:  Yes, I do.

MR. KING:  And they come up with a figure of 17.5 percent.  Again, they itemize a number of tasks, engineering design, procurement, contract administration, inspection, as-built documentation, and then below that table, they go on and talk about there may be other costs, regulatory applications --

MR. GREY:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. KING:  -- which there was.  There was a leave to construct here that NRG led, defining project scope, customer negotiations and resolutions.  We will get to that.  Do you disagree with that sort of global percentage number?  I mean, is it your view that soft costs -- again, this is a generic number.  17-1/2 percent is incorrect?

MR. GREY:  That is a very broad categorization.  So much depends on the size and scope of the project.  Having said that, however, if I take your costs and very roughly calculate what I would consider to be the soft costs, I come up with 30 percent.

MR. KING:  Could you undertake to provide how -- we come up with 18 percent.

MR. GREY:  Sure.

MR. KING:  We have been coming up with different math for a long time now.  Maybe we could get an undertaking to come up with --

MR. STOLL:  I don't mind giving an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  J2.3, and that is to provide an analysis of where the 30 percent figure for soft costs came from.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO PROVIDE ANALYSIS OF WHERE 30 percent FIGURE FOR SOFT COSTS CAME FROM.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so that I am clear, Mr. King, as I look at summary -- the summary table that you referred to earlier in your tab 6, MIG is the same company that performed a number of services for the company specifically with respect to this project?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. KING:  Mr. Grey, can you turn to paragraph 10 of Mr. Cowan's affidavit?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. KING:  In paragraphs 10 through 16, Mr. Cowan sets out his view as to why, in the case of the IGPC project, some of those soft costs are understandably and predictably quite high.

Have you read paragraphs 10 through 16?

MR. GREY:  I have.

MR. KING:  Do you disagree with how Mr. Cowan has characterized that?

MR. GREY:  I don't disagree with the fact that we were involved, but I certainly do agree with why we were involved at the level we were involved.

MR. KING:  Could you look at paragraph 12?  I am just making the point here we don't quarrel with your desire to play such a role.  This is Mr. Cowan's affidavit.  We understand why you would want to be involved.  Indeed, Mr. Stoll -- I am not sure whether you were here, but Mr. Stoll yesterday -- or Tuesday stated that contractually, you had contracted to be involved.

There are a number of provisions in the pipeline cost recovery agreement, sections 3.9 through 4.5, where you have contracted for a right to be involved --

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. KING:  -- at a fairly minute level, when costs are in excess of $25,000; is that correct?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. KING:  So one person might say you got what you paid for, but don't want to pay for, but we will leave that to argument.

And your involvement with the project or IGPC's involvement with the project started early.  You are aware that there were weekly meetings?

MR. GREY:  I have awareness of it, yes.

MR. KING:  Convened between Aecon, NRG, IGPC and even the Town of Aylmer starting prior to the leave to construct proceeding, even?

MR. GREY:  I will take your word for it.

MR. KING:  Okay.

Just a couple of clean-up points.  You understand that the original estimate was $9.1 million for the construction of this pipeline?

MR. GREY:  I am aware of that.

MR. KING:  And that figure was before this Board at the leave to construct proceeding, and that figure was prepared based on work done by Aecon on the engineering side and SENES on the environmental side?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And you are aware that those -- those folks appeared as NRG's witnesses at that hearing?

MR. GREY:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. KING:  These are just a couple of smaller miscellaneous points.  Yesterday -- and it is sort of a non-monetary item, but it is an item that sticks in our craw somewhat.  Mr. Stoll was asking questions about the check measurement systems.  Do you recall that?

MR. GREY:  I recall the conversation, yes.

MR. KING:  And there was -- I am not sure where Mr. Stoll was going, and we can talk about it in argument, but the illusion was somehow that we weren't achieving industry standard practice.

We have answered the check measurement question in an undertaking response that we have provided today, but I just want to confirm with you.

You are not of the position that somehow this pipeline installed falls below good utility practice?

MR. GREY:  No, not at all.

MR. KING:  The pipeline is working.  It's serving you --

MR. GREY:  The pipeline is working.

MR. KING:  Whatever the history between these two companies in the past, it is sort of business as usual now?

MR. GREY:  On a day-to-day business, we get our gas, we get our bills, we pay our bills.

MR. KING:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Nothing from Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No?  Thank you.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Grey.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am Counsel for Board Staff.  I have a few questions I would like to go through.

I will start with the basics, and I think Mr. King covered most of this, but I just want to make sure we have a common understanding of what is in dispute here.

As Mr. King was just discussing with you, the original estimate for the total cost of the pipeline was about $9.1 million; is that correct?

MR. GREY:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the amount that NRG claims was now the total cost of the project is, in fact, just over 8.6 million?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And IGPC's view is that the total cost should, in fact, be $1.1 million lower, or approximately $7.5 million; is that correct?

MR. GREY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the amount that NRG proposes to close to rate base in this application is just over $5 million?

MR. GREY:  I believe so, yes.  Without doing the math, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And it is IGPC's view that the amount that should close to rate base is actually somewhat lower than this; is that correct?

MR. GREY:  Yes, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I heard, without getting into a specific number, Mr. Stoll suggested something in the range of $4.5 million; is that --

MR. GREY:  I believe that's correct, without seeing the numbers in front of me.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is because in IGPC's view, the total capital cost is only $7.5 million, so this should lead to a reduction both to the rate base amount and to the capital contribution from IGPC; is that correct?

MR. GREY:  Yes.  And to the aid to construct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So that is what the dispute is about?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I would like to explore with you, if I could, the mechanics by which a reduction in the total capital cost would lead to a reduction in the rate base amount, the amount to close to rate base.

So let's assume for the purposes of this discussion that IGPC is successful, and it convinces the Board that the total capital cost of the pipeline should only be $7.5 million.  So let's proceed on that assumption.

What I would like to go through is how that gets us to a lower rate base number.

MR. STOLL:  Well, if I may, I think the mathematical formula was provided by NRG on how the calculation works.  And I think even if you look at their undertaking -- and we can turn to it.  It is the appendix summary table that they provided in their undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertakings that were filed yesterday, Mr. Stoll?

MR. STOLL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you take me there, please?  I want to make sure we're talking about the same document.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  It is the J1.4:

"To provide an update to schedules and responses to OEB IR 11."

There is a table prepared.

And if we look at the bottom of that, there is a total cost of project under the first two -- or I guess it is the second and third columns; the one says 8.6, the other says 9.1.  Are you --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  If we go up two lines, the total costs on NRG's books changes.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  It is not directly linear with the changing capital, but there is a change.  It is not our model.  We don't know how it will work.  But based on that type of difference, we suspect that there is going to be some drop in rate base.  But again, it is not our model.

MR. MILLAR:  And it is NRG's model?

MR. STOLL:  I understand it was Mr. Aiken who had prepared the model, and used at the leave-to-construct proceeding, which formed the basis for the contract.  Mr. King can...

MR. QUESNELLE:  I don't know how much further we are going to go with this undertaking, but, Mr. Millar, just so you are aware the Panel does not have copies of the undertakings yet.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Mr. King has some spares and I will bring them to you.

MR. STOLL:  My apologies for jumping ahead, Mr. Quesnelle.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, that's fine.

[Mr. Millar passes out copies of the undertakings.]

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks.

MR. STOLL:  It is J1.4.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, thank you for that, Mr. Stoll.  That is helpful and it may mean I have some further questions for NRG.  But let me proceed with what I have here, understanding that it is not, in fact, NRG's model.

So Mr. Grey, it might be helpful -- do you have the PCRA with you, the Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement?  It is at tab --

MR. GREY:  Tab 3?

MR. MILLAR:  Tab 3, yes.  The motion materials.

I am looking at page 2, the "Definitions" section.  And if you will look at the definition of aid to construct -- do you have that in front of you?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I will just read that out.  It says:

"...means the amount by which the capital cost exceeds the revenue recovered by the utility through rates, as calculated in accordance with EBO 188."

Do you see that?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You are aware that EBO 188 is a Board decision that deals with this topic?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So essentially what this says is you will follow the methodologies established in EBO 188?

Do you agree with that?

MR. GREY:  Yes, I do.  Sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And the way that I understand that this works is you do what I understand is a seven-year forecast of revenues, and then you ensure that the amount that closes to rate base does not exceed those revenues; is that correct?

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Generally?

MR. GREY:  You are getting to a level of detail that I am really not familiar with.

MR. STOLL:  The math is from the model that was by NRG.  I think it is more appropriate to put that question to them on how the math works.

MR. MILLAR:  I will put these to them as well, but I wanted to -- what I am struggling with is I am not certain why this leads to a rate base reduction, a reduction in total capital cost.

If you can't answer the questions, that's fine, but I will put them to you and we will see where we get.

MR. GREY:  I will do my best.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Mr. Stoll, you can jump in, I think.  I know that you are probably more knowledgeable about this than I am, but I do want to get an understanding of how this would work.

Would you agree with me that the reason that we have the aid to construct is to ensure that NRG's other ratepayers are not subsidizing the cost of the pipeline?

MR. GREY:  Absolutely, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So at least at a high level, it is meant to ensure that the revenues -- pardon me, that the costs of the project do not exceed the revenues that come in?

MR. GREY:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is it fair to say that the revenues from this project are essentially known, or at least are not disputed?

MR. STOLL:  I don't think -- for the purposes of the analysis, no.  Like, it's the contracted volumes we're obligated to provide.

MR. MILLAR:  So the only thing -- the revenues are known or at least are agreed to.  It's just the costs that are not agreed to?

MR. GREY:  Yes.  We have a minimum daily requirement of gas purchases.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.

MR. STOLL:  We have the annual revenue requirement and the PCRA, with the true-up at the end of the year on volume deliveries.  So the revenue is known from that perspective.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And we are agreed that at least the general purpose of the capital contribution is to ensure that costs do not exceed revenues?  Is that -- I think you confirmed that.

MR. GREY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So since the revenues are known, why does a change in the costs affect the amount that closes to rate base?

MR. STOLL:  I think that is a question for NRG.  It is their model.  Like...

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Fair enough.  I will accept that, because I will probably want a copy of the model to see how that works.

And I will let you know what my problem with that is.  It is not obvious to me why a change in costs where there is no change in revenues has any impact on the amount that closes to rate base.

MR. STOLL:  In which case, then, the reduction would be a one-for-one with aid to construct, and in our position, there would be a delta with what we have paid to what we would be obligated to pay.

MR. MILLAR:  I agree with that.

MR. STOLL:  Right.  Then we would get a cheque, and we would be quite happy getting money now as opposed to a reduction in rate base.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we are getting into argument here.

MR. STOLL:  I think we are.

MR. MILLAR:  My view is -- the way I would have understood it would be that a change in costs would only impact the amount of the capital contribution and would not affect the amount that closes to rate base.  But I will pursue this with NRG to ensure that --

MR. STOLL:  I think that is appropriate.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  

You referred in the cross-examination for Mr. King to certain invoices that you have recently received from NRG; is that correct?

MR. GREY:  Yes, yes.

MR. KING:  And you hadn't seen those invoices before?

MR. GREY:  No.

MR. KING:  And they have not been paid by IGPC to date?

MR. GREY:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know if NRG are charging you interest on those invoices?

MR. GREY:  As far as I am aware, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Stoll, any re-examination?

MR. STOLL:  I think probably one or two questions for re-direct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
Re-Examination by Mr. Stoll:

MR. STOLL:  Mr. King mentioned a bunch of meetings that were held on a weekly basis between IGPC, NRG and others.

Has IGPC disputed the costs of any of those meetings?

MR. GREY:  No, we haven't.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And it is your understanding that the February 2008 motion was precipitated by the demand for the 32 million in financial --

MR. GREY:  Yes, yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  The Board has no questions either.  The witness is excused.  Thank you.


[Witness withdraws]


This is probably an opportune time for a break here.  We will break until 11 o'clock, at which time I think your next panel will then be ready, Mr. King?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right, Thank you.  We will recess until 11 o'clock.  Thank you.

[Witness withdraws]


--- Recess taken at 10:41 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:09 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Please be seated.

Okay.  Mr. King, can we have your next panel up?

MR. KING:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I have a panel for cost allocation.  Ms. O'Meara and Mr. Cowan are still under oath.  They don't need to be re-sworn, but Mr. Todd needs to be sworn.
INTEGRATED GRAIN PROCESSORS CO-OPERATIVE INC. - PANEL 2

Laurie O'Meara, Previously Sworn


John Robert Cowan, Previously Sworn


John Douglas Todd, Sworn


MR. KING:  And we provided, and it is part of this proceeding as Exhibit K1.2, the CV of Mr. Todd.  I am wondering if we could just get -- no objection from anyone to qualifying Mr. Todd as an expert when it comes to cost allocation measures?  He has testified on this a number of times.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Any objections from any of the parties?  Mr. Stoll?

MR. STOLL:  I have no objection.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Buonaguro, no objection there?  Fine.  Yes, the Board accepts Mr. Todd as an expert in this matter.

MR. KING:  I have no direct examination for this panel, so we can proceed directly to cross.

I understand Mr. Millar is going to start just by way of asking for the undertaking that we were talking about with respect to the model.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  This is just follow-up to the discussion I had with Mr. Grey.  I do have some additional cross which I will save until the end.  But you recall my discussion?  You were here for my discussion with Mr. Grey?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  What I would like to have provided is an analysis of both the capital -- assuming that NRG wins and the $1.1 million comes off the total capital cost, I would like to see the analysis of how that $1.1 million reduction would feed into the capital contribution paid by IGPC, and the amount that would close to rate base.  Can you provide that?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes, that is if IGPC wins.  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, assuming that the total capital cost is $7.5 million or whatever it is.  I apologize --

MR. STOLL:  I think you said if NRG wins and there is a $1.1 million reduction.  I think Richard had a heart attack.

MR. MILLAR:  My mistake, but you understand what I am asking for?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes, yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be J 2.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO PROVIDE ANALYSIS OF HOW $1.1 million REDUCTION WOULD FEED INTO CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION PAID BY IGPC AND AMOUNT THAT WOULD CLOSE TO RATE BASE.

MR. STOLL:  Is it just the output or the actual model?

MR. MILLAR:  I would like to see the calculations, because, as I indicated, I don't understand why anything comes off the rate base amount.  So I would like to be able to determine how that works.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I suppose if we could include in that that it is a verification that that is the methodology that was used in EB-188 -- or 88, sorry.

MS. O'MEARA:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If we can confirm that as an undertaking.

MR. KING:  With that, I think this panel is available for cross-examination.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You had nothing else, Mr. Millar, at this point?

MR. MILLAR:  I do have some questions on other areas, but I will wait my turn.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Stoll, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. STOLL:  I guess I get to lead off.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stoll:

MR. STOLL:  Just to let the panel know, there is I guess just a couple of areas on cost allocation that we want to explore a little bit, and we can start with a couple of the basics.  Was there a cost allocation study done from first principles for this application?

MR. TODD:  No, there was not.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I believe you have used the term "legacy allocation" in the evidence?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  A model for cost allocation has always existed for NRG proceedings.  That model, as with any company, is deemed to have been accepted by the Board, except for direction for changes.  There were two directions for changes to the model, and so the legacy model was adapted for those changes, and the addition to the rate class, the changes had taken place in order to update the model.

But there was no attempt to look at the methodologies that were embedded previously to review them and consider changes to them.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  How long ago was that original cost allocation model developed?

MR. TODD:  I don't know.  It is probably back to 
the -- I would assume back to the first NRG rate case, whenever that was.  I have not checked that.

MR. KING:  We can find that out.

MR. STOLL:  If I could have an undertaking to that, I am just...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. STOLL:  I guess you are familiar with the amount of rate base in the throughput that my client represents for NRG; correct?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We will just get on the record that undertaking, though.

MR. STOLL:  I'm sorry.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  It is J2.5.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  TO PROVIDE DATE OF ORIGINAL COST ALLOCATION MODEL DEVELOPMENT.

MR. STOLL:  So would it not have been an opportune time to go back and revisit cost allocation, given that you had a significant change in your customer make-up?

MR. TODD:  Typically, in ongoing regulatory processes such as this, cost allocation models are not reviewed on a fundamental basis.  They are updated periodically for changes, but it is -- my general advice to clients is it is not a good investment to go back and change things that the Board has previously approved.  Therefore, you would not do a fundamental review.

You could -- I can understand that there could be an argument that with the significant change in classes, that that would be an argument for doing a review.

MR. STOLL:  Right, because --

MR. TODD:  Given the level of directly allocated costs, arguably the costs that were not directly allocated have not changed significantly.

But I can see the argument being made.  I was not -- Elenchus was not asked to do that by NRG.

MR. STOLL:  That's fine.  I guess certain costs were directly allocated to IGPC?

MR. TODD:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And some of those costs we talked a little bit about yesterday, being some of the costs from MIG Engineering.

I am wondering if you have any thoughts about whether IGPC would be the kind of the sole beneficiary of the emergency response procedures or the community awareness program being proposed, or whether the other customers would derive some benefit?

MR. TODD:  Normally, when we look at the allocation of costs, we are looking at the cost drivers, what caused the costs as opposed to reviewing the benefit.

So these direct allocations were based on, shall we say, what triggered the costs being incurred.  I have not considered the benefit, so I can't really comment on that.  I'd have to think about it.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So is there any emergency response program in existence at NRG prior to IGPC coming along?

MR. TODD:  I have not asked that question of them.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  Panel?  We are on a panel, so that kind of question could be put to NRG, as opposed to the cost allocation model.  They're probably better qualified to answer.

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  I guess where I am trying to go, I am trying to understand whether we are just kind of adding on to something that already was there and whether it is solely related to my client, or whether it's an updating of procedures, or building on something that was already there.

MR. TODD:  There was a marginal costing concept, right.  So costs that were incurred which are adding to anything existing, that were driven by this significant change in the customer base, were viewed as being caused by IGPC, not by the customers.

And so to the extent those would serve incremental and marginal costs caused by, they were directly allocated to IGPC.

MR. STOLL:  And that includes the allocation of insurance?

MR. TODD:  There is a portion of insurance which is directly allocated.

MR. STOLL:  What portion would that be?

MR. TODD:  Do you have the summary sheet?  There are several broad categories.

There was a general -- the 100 percent was the additional umbrella liability.

The business interruption insurance and transfer stations were 100 percent allocated to IGPC.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  The general liability coverage was split, as was property insurance, equipment floater, fleet insurance.

MR. STOLL:  So the total amount of insurance that NRG pays in an annual basis, do you have the number there?

MR. TODD:  The total in the rate application was 197,962.  A separate calculation indicates, in fact, it was 202,496, but the application number stands.

MR. STOLL:  Right.  And that excludes what is allocated through the admin and general; correct?

MR. TODD:  Yes, hat's the amount charged to -- allocated to IGPC.  Out of a total of -- that's the total, right, the 284?

MR. STOLL:  But through the allocation of A&G, there is additional insurance that works its way through to IGPC?

MR. TODD:  I think all of the insurance costs are handled separately.

MR. STOLL:  Can we go to the response to IGPC IR 72?

MR. TODD:  Yes, 72?

MR. STOLL:  Do you see a page with the "sheet 1.3" at the top?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  You are at the right page.

Can you look down to -- I misspoke.  It was an O&M expense allocation.

There is... where am I?

"Insurance," line 18?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  You have A&G allocation of 74.2; correct?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. TODD:  My knowledge is working from the same table as you are, and I am not clear and nor is the panel on the difference between this insurance and the insurance that I just quoted to you.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Like, my understanding of the evidence is that there is a directly assigned 198,000 or 202,000.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  I think there is a couple of numbers floating around.

But my understanding is this is the assignment to IGPC through the A&G allocation.  That is -- if you look at the top of the page it says:  "A&G assigned to IGPC."

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  So the number is 23,400?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  So in effect IGPC would pay -- what's the... in excess of 220,000 of the insurance expense through direct allocation, and the indirect allocation of the -- through A&G?

MR. TODD:  I do not have the policies that that insurance line covers, but it should be separate from the insurance coverages that were mentioned here, or the numbers wouldn't total up in terms of total costs.

MR. STOLL:  Right.

MR. TODD:  So there were specific -- specific insurance items.

MR. STOLL:  And I am not --

MR. TODD:  Which were allocated separately based on individual attribution, if you want, to IGPC.

MR. STOLL:  Correct.

MR. TODD:  Then there is sort of a residual insurance is what this should be, which is part of O&M expenses, that is no different and doesn't have a different treatment than A&G generally.

MR. STOLL:  Right.  But I guess where I am going -- what is the total expenditure on insurance by NRG in a year?

MR. TODD:  Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 7, page 3 cites:

"All of the above would bring NRG's 2011 insurance costs to 284,925, of which 197,962 is attributable to IGPC."

MR. STOLL:  Directly?  Not including the attribution through A&G?

MR. TODD:  I believe that's correct.

MR. STOLL:  Well, we can check the number by back-calculating your costs allocated of the 1.7 million.

MR. TODD:  The A&G calculation -- I have to go back to the schedules -- but the A&G, the allocation of O&M expenses is separate from the insurance calculations, which I summarized for you.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  But the input, I mean, the insurance you are starting with --

MR. STOLL:  Is...

MR. TODD:  Are different categories of insurance.

MR. STOLL:  I understand that.  We are going to get to that.

MR. TODD:  And the insurance in this line would also be attributed to all customer classes.

MR. STOLL:  There is an allocation of the A&G insurance?

MR. TODD:  Right.

MR. STOLL:  To everybody?

MR. TODD:  Right.

MR. STOLL:  And the -- other than 4- or 5,000 of insurance costs that are allocated to everybody, this is the only allocation of insurance to the other five rate classes, the difference between 74,000 and 23,000?

MR. TODD:  Plus there are coverages which have been treated separately, and that is the subject of a letter which I think was circulated yesterday.

MR. STOLL:  Yes.

MR. TODD:  For example.  So that was actually split, and based on that letter, that split should be corrected.

MR. STOLL:  Right.

MR. TODD:  But aside -- so there are -- they're not all of the separately identified insurance costs were allocated 100 percent, were directly allocated 100 percent.

MR. STOLL:  No, I understand that.  Some of the insurance costs were allocated 59 percent to IGPC?

MR. TODD:  Right.

MR. STOLL:  And the rest were 100 percent?

MR. TODD:  Right.  It is done coverage-by-coverage.

MR. STOLL:  Right.  And let's go to the coverage-by-coverage.

MR. TODD:  Okay.

MR. STOLL:  There is the general policy; correct?  General and comprehensive --

MR. TODD:  General liability coverage.

MR. STOLL:  General liability coverage.  That covered all assets; correct?

MR. TODD:  Right.

MR. STOLL:  Including IGPC and everybody else's assets?

MR. TODD:  Right.

MR. STOLL:  And the umbrella coverage, my understanding is, is coverage over and above the general coverage?

MR. TODD:  And there is two categories of umbrella liability identified, one which was -- is included in the amount that is split between other customers and IGPC, and additional umbrella liability, which is identified as being attributable solely to IGPC.

And the numbers there are general liability coverage, the coverage is 2 million, the umbrella liability, an additional 13 million, for a total of 15, which is split between other customers and IGPC.

Then there is a separate additional umbrella liability of 10 million, which is attributable solely to IGPC.

MR. STOLL:  So there is no possibility that if there is a claim resulting from an incident on other plant that costs $20 million, that that second policy would be used?

MR. TODD:  I have not read the insurance policies so I can't --

MR. STOLL:  We have asked for them and we haven't seen them.

MR. TODD:  Okay.  I can't answer that question.

MR. STOLL:  Well, we can deal with that issue right now, then.

MR. KING:  I am not sure they have been asked for.

MR. STOLL:  Well, we asked for a summary of the policies, just so we don't misspeak.

Can we turn to IGPC IR 40?  And --

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I will just read it.  It says:
"Please provide a comparison of the insurance coverages received for these premiums with the insurance coverages received prior to the construction of the line serving IGPC."


And if I can read the last statement, it says:
"Please note, NRG is having an insurance report prepared to addressed issues raised in this question."


We have the response to undertaking J1.1; correct?

MR. TODD:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  And this is the insurance report --

MR. TODD:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  -- that... Does this letter explain or deal with the issues that were raised in the question at IR 40?

MR. TODD:  The letter is not all-inclusive.

MR. STOLL:  I think that is somewhat charitable.

In fact, I had a difficult time understanding exactly what it meant.  It says:
"In our opinion, the risks should be 40% of the supply of gas to the Ethanol Plant and the balance to other operations."


Which insurance policy is this referring to?

MR. TODD:  We have interpreted that as applying to the general liability coverage and the umbrella liability.  It reads like a letter prepared by an insurance company and vetted by lawyers, but...

MR. STOLL:  And translated by a consultant.

[Laughter]

MR. TODD:  In the end, yes.  So the 59 in numbers presented before in the response to OEB 20, which is cited in the response to this question --

MR. STOLL:  Right.

MR. TODD:  -- that lays out the coverages, one of which is the general liability coverage with the umbrella liability, less the 4 percent allocated to NRG.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  And that is -- was 59 --

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  -- and based on that letter, should be updated to 40 --

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  -- being allocated to IGPC.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And do we have a figure -- let's go back to the basic.  Do we have a figure, all in, the contribution that IGPC is making to the insurance out of the 284,925, when you look at all of the money that we're spending?

MR. TODD:  Prior to the update from the 59 to the 40?

MR. STOLL:  Right.

MR. TODD:  The number came to 197,962, which is the response to OEB 20.

MR. STOLL:  But that is the direct --

MR. TODD:  That number would be --

MR. STOLL:  But that doesn't include the ANG allocation; correct?

MR. TODD:  We will have to do that as an undertaking if you want that number.

MR. STOLL:  I would appreciate it, and it goes back to --

MR. TODD:  You're saying you want the number inclusive -- updated for the 40 percent and inclusive of the ANG allocation?

MR. STOLL:  I am not worried about the 40 percent even at this point.  I am just saying:  Where are we starting from, as far as -- it is my position that IGPC's portion of the insurance is about $225,000, roughly speaking.

MR. TODD:  Okay.  I will accept that subject to check.

MR. STOLL:  Well, there is the 199 through the direct allocation.

MR. TODD:  Okay.

MR. STOLL:  Then we have the allocation of the ANG for 23,000.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Add those numbers, 225,000.

MR. TODD:  Fine.

MR. STOLL:  Plus or minus.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there an undertaking?

MR. STOLL:  Oh, my apologies.  I don't think just yet.  I don't think we need one just yet.

So -- and prior to IGPC coming along, what was the insurance costs at NRG expended?  I believe it is about 100 and...

MR. TODD:  Okay.  That is not the way the cost allocation model works.

MR. STOLL:  No.  No, no, no.  I am just trying to say --

MR. TODD:  I have not looked at that number.  The cost allocation model, which is our involvement, does not look at it that way, but takes insurance in categories and allocates those costs out based on different policies and based on how the coverages are.

MR. STOLL:  Right.

MR. TODD:  There is no global comparison.  That is not the way cost allocation works.

MR. STOLL:  So there is no sniff test to say, Hey, I've got one customer paying 75 percent of the insurance for this company, or --

MR. TODD:  The cost allocation model is based on cost allocation principles.

MR. STOLL:  Which --

MR. TODD:  -- not on a category-by-category sniff test.

The sniff test is the cost-allocation methodology --

MR. STOLL:  Let's --

MR. TODD:  -- in my view.  You may want to --

MR. STOLL:  But you didn't do -- you did not do the original?

MR. TODD:  We did not circle back and do a calculation overall and say, Does that make sense?

We just allocated out the individual insurance policies, and when you have a significant change, sometimes you do change -- you know, costs get reallocated amongst customers and it changes over time.

MR. STOLL:  I appreciate that.  I appreciate there is a reallocation, and I don't disagree that we should pay some portion of the general and umbrella.

But where I am going here is that we are not the only beneficiaries of this insurance, and we are not necessarily the only drivers of the insurance.  And I think the ratepayers, before IGPC came along - and we can confirm the evidence - the expenditure was in around $185,000.

MR. TODD:  I do not work with a cost allocation model by summarizing an output and saying, I don't think this looks right so I am going to change something.

You have to start with a breakdown of the costs, running it through the three-stage process, and, in a sense, whatever numbers come out of that are the numbers that come out of that, unless you have a question where you go back and check the steps in the cost allocation model and identify a methodological error.  So --

MR. STOLL:  You weren't retained to do that?

MR. TODD:  I do not judge the methodology based on the results --

MR. STOLL:  No, no.

MR. TODD:  -- except to go back and revisit the methodology.  So if you have a concern about the methodology, I can respond to that.  I am not sure I can respond to a global conclusion.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Let's talk a little bit about a couple of the other...

The insurance for the station, that covers all the risks associated with the station?

MR. TODD:  Again, I haven't read the policy in detail, but my understanding of it is it is a general coverage.

MR. STOLL:  A general coverage.  Like, I guess I am not disputing that that cost would be allocated to my client.  What I am curious is is you use rate base for part of the assignment of the percentage of allocation.

MR. TODD:  You are now talking ANG, generally?  You are not talking -- we are not talking the insurance policies that were allocated out separately; is that correct?

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  We can -- sure.  We can go down that path, say...  So the rate base was used as the allocator?

MR. TODD:  Rate base is used as the allocator for ANG.

MR. STOLL:  Correct.

MR. TODD:  Which would include some insurance costs.

MR. STOLL:  Right.  But certain of the rate base, like the station, which is $880,000 for 7 or 8 percent of the rate base are covered by a distinct policy?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  So would it not be proper to remove them from the equation to get a proper comparison of the remaining rate base and my client's percentage of that rate base?

MR. TODD:  If the insurance component of A&G was going to be allocated separately, I can see that.  But I am not sure that that changes the A&G allocator.  What, perhaps, that speaks to is that you would like to see a refinement to the methodology which takes that, that component of A&G out, and treats it and provides a separate allocator for that.

MR. STOLL:  Well...

MR. TODD:  That's -- you know, we can -- we often, in reviewing cost allocation models, identify further detailed refinements, and that is often done and that could be appropriate here.

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  And I guess part of where we look at this is there's about 60,000 in insurance for every other ratepayer to pick up, the 284 minus the 220 and change.  That's 60,000 in round numbers.

MR. TODD:  Mm-hmm.

MR. STOLL:  So the other ratepayers, basically, went from paying 184, getting better coverage, and paying 60,000, because of the way your cost allocation works?

MR. TODD:  Okay.  What change to the cost allocation model are you proposing?

MR. STOLL:  I am just trying to understand, make sure I understand the numbers and what happened in the transition.

MR. TODD:  Okay.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  What I am saying is why not -- why shouldn't my client just pick up the direct costs to them, plus a small -- like a portion of the property, plant and equipment of the 5,000, rather than some of the other umbrellas?

In the original application, 60 percent; now you are telling me 40 percent.

I don't understand how those were done.

MR. TODD:  The coverage, as I understand it, does not relate specifically to those assets.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  There is two different things we're talking about here.  One is using rate base as an allocator, and the other is what the coverages are that are in the many different policies.

So if you -- there is, there are some policies which are included in A&G.  Those coverages are for things which benefit all customers.  Therefore they're allocated to all customers.

I think where you're going is to say that:  Well, rate base may over-allocate that component of A&G to your client.

MR. STOLL:  Well...

MR. TODD:  That could be a proposed refinement to the model.

Frankly, I would be reluctant to take A&G items and start -- taking all of the A&G items and say:  Let's apply different allocators to all of the subcomponents.

MR. STOLL:  But we do have a bit of a hybrid allocation, right?  We have incremental allocations, plus this historical.  So we kind of jammed a couple of things together?

MR. TODD:  I don't -- I wouldn't call that hybrid.  Hybrid, like the hybrid electricity market, to me, always has a negative connotation.  But it is standard procedure that you have directly allocated costs.

And the incremental concept, I think, is trying to get at incremental causal costs.  So I would say that that is not a hybrid.  That is just part of the way the cost allocation is done.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Well, we're getting mercifully close to the end of insurance.

The business interruption insurance, that is a new policy; correct?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And so there is no business interruption insurance when Imperial Tobacco was a customer?

MR. TODD:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. STOLL:  Correct?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  And Imperial Tobacco had volumes, not quite as high at IGPC but very significant?

MR. TODD:  They did have significant volumes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  What is the purpose of the business interruption insurance?

MR. TODD:  I am not giving evidence on the insurance.

Perhaps other members of the panel can.

MS. O'MEARA:  It was to cover the fixed costs if something happened to the pipeline.

MR. STOLL:  The fixed -- so it is intended to serve the debt and some of the other fixed costs, should you not be able to provide service?

MR. COWAN:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  So at that point my client is not getting service?

MR. TODD:  Therefore revenue is not being received, therefore this is offsetting the lost revenue; is that correct?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MS. O'MEARA:  Expenses and costs.

MR. STOLL:  I am having a bit of a difficult time trying to figure out when this would come into play, the business interruption insurance.

MR. COWAN:  Well, it could be a variety of occurrences.

It could be damage to the pipeline caused by some third party, which would interfere with the service.

There could be damage which would occur at IGPC, which would put it in the position of not being able to accept gas.

MR. STOLL:  But...

MR. COWAN:  So that would have an impact on NRG.

MR. STOLL:  Revenue?  Right.

But in the second circumstance, you talk about my client has a take-or-pay contract.  So he has to pay whether he takes it or not; correct?

MR. TODD:  Take-or-pay and business interruption are different things.  Subject to check, if somebody were inspired by certain farmers in Alberta and were to pull up the pipeline, I am not sure that that would --

MR. STOLL:  That would --

MR. TODD:  Take-or-pay would still be paid.

MR. STOLL:  That would fall under the force-majeure provisions, though, of the gas delivery contract?

MR. TODD:  Yes, so therefore --

MR. STOLL:  So the obligations would be suspended, from our perspective.

MR. TODD:  Precisely, and therefore there would not be the revenue coming in.

MR. STOLL:  For what period of time were you looking to recover this revenue?

MR. TODD:  That is what the insurance policy would be addressing.

MR. STOLL:  Right.  And like, this is a pipeline that was built between March and July of one year.  It is not a very long period of time.

MR. TODD:  So are you suggesting that the insurance is not required because it is going to be a short period of time?  Or are you saying --

MR. STOLL:  I don't have any information to understand whether it is required or not.

MR. TODD:  Well, the purpose of the business interruption insurance is that its coverage kicks in if the business operations are interrupted and revenue stream is blocked.

MR. STOLL:  Right, and that is to the benefit of the shareholder; correct?  And the other ratepayers that NRG is able to continue on?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  And...

MR. TODD:  And all costs that are recovered in rates are costs which are caused by the existence of the business, and something which is -- in a sense, every expenditure is to the benefit of, you know, the business.  But those costs are still recoverable.

And they're recoverable from -- this is getting back to the cost allocation model -- from the party that has caused -- made those costs necessary.

MR. STOLL:  But that is a judgment call on the utility's part, where they can begin and not begin?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  And you can second-guess, before the Board, judgments of the company, and the Board has a right to support you or accept the judgment of the company.

But from a cost allocation model perspective, I deal with the costs that are there.  I am not going to second-guess.

MR. STOLL:  So the business interruption, you basically say, is solely applicable to the revenue that it is designed to protect?  And it protects --

MR. TODD:  From a cost-allocation perspective, it is allocated to the revenues that it --

MR. STOLL:  And in this case, it is solely to the revenue?

MR. TODD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. STOLL:  From IGPC?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  And solely to the portion of the second loan instrument that IGPC is attributed to?

MR. TODD:  That's the information from NRG.

MR. STOLL:  So the 4.2 percent variable loan or what....

MR. TODD:  I believe so.  That is the information that we have from NRG.  I have not reviewed the insurance policies.  I have not reviewed any of that.  I am not an insurance expert, but I am saying that is the information I have for purposes of cost allocation.

MR. STOLL:  All right.  Well, I think we will leave insurance.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The Board would be interested, I think, Mr. Stoll, the witnesses from NRG, if you can provide any enlightenment on this, we would be interested.

Specifically, I suppose, and a little further to what your enquiry is, Mr. Stoll, is it a netting-out?  The business interruption, does is it considered your dropped costs associated with serving the customer as well?

To the extent that you may have loan obligations or what have you, would they still be there?  Are they the only costs that still remain?  Is there any netting-out in this business insurance deal?

MR. COWAN:  We think it is only to recover those costs, yes.  But --

MR. QUESNELLE:  So to the extent that you have lost revenue, but there would also be -- the cessation of the business would also cause your costs to stop to a certain effect, as well.  Is it a netting out of those two, or how are you kept whole?  Do you know?

MR. COWAN:  I can't answer that today.

MR. TODD:  I thought I heard the words earlier that it related to the fixed costs.  It is not the variable costs.

MR. COWAN:  I think that's correct.

MR. TODD:  We can verify that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I understand.  Thank you, Mr. Todd.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you like an undertaking, Mr. Quesnelle, or is that satisfactory?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think if it is related to the fixed, that explains it, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just one further question.  How would any recovery -- in the event of a third party breaching the line, for example, how would any recovery be handled in that context?  How would you allocate the proceeds of third party liability?

MR. COWAN:  I don't think we have ever considered an allocation of a recovery.  We are just trying to protect the other rates from this event and because -- and the reason that we've got into business interruption coverage in our thinking, was because it is a high pressure line and the exposure is -- puts the utility at a greater risk because of that.

MR. TODD:  Without pretending to be an insurance expert, I have dealt with insurance companies.  And where there are other recoveries, such as a write-off of my car, some recovery for the value of what was left of the car, that residual value is claimed by the insurance company as an offset to their costs.

So it would actually be -- the insurance company's liability would be reduced, not a benefit to the company in that situation, I think.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am just trying to understand how the allocation of this insurance cost to this single operator, the single customer, how that -- how that insurance coverage actually protects the other ratepayers.  I am not sure how that works.

You have a business relationship with IGPC which requires a delivery of gas on a certain rate every day.  You have a certain revenue associated with that, and that is built into the overall rate structure that the company is governed by.

If that were to be interrupted by a third party liability-type situation, how does that impact the other customers?  How are you protecting the other ratepayers?

MR. COWAN:  It just protects NRG's business.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Correct.

MR. COWAN:  And its business is to supply the other customers.  Perhaps what we should be considering is whether or not the business interruption cover should be put in place by IGPC and approved by us.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, they will have to address that.  Well, I have asked my question.  That's adequate.

MR. STOLL:  I guess can we get a confirmation from the insurance companies that the policies that have been 100 percent allocated to IGPC only protect the IGPC-related assets?

MR. TODD:  Okay.  So to clarify, the pipe for IGPC is separate from the pipe for all of the customers.

MR. STOLL:  Correct.

MR. TODD:  And so the first question I think you would need to clarify is:  Does this business interruption insurance only cover business interruptions because the pipe serving IGPC -- IGPC is -- can't operate, or is it a broader coverage that anything happens?

So if something were to happen to the other pipe, that, in effect, other customers are protected or the company is protected against losses.  That is your first question?  I don't know the answer to that.  I am not sure -- I don't think the panel knows the answer to that.

MR. STOLL:  I think it is going to be an undertaking and I am trying to phrase the question.  And I think it goes beyond the business interruption insurance to the umbrella policies.

I am trying to understand if the umbrella policies only impact -- are available for the protection of my client or for other assets --

MR. TODD:  Okay.

MR. STOLL:  -- to understand whether they should be allocated solely to my client.

MR. TODD:  Okay.  That is from a cost allocation perspective.  That is a fair question.

My understanding is that it is only providing protection against business interruption of the IGPC business.  If that assumption is not correct, then the allocation would have to be modified.

MR. STOLL:  Can we have a confirmation from the company on the business interruption, at least, and on the umbrella policies that they are related to...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Do you have a question on that?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just a second.  I'm sorry, Mr. King.

MR. KING:  Just the words were confirmation from the insurance company.  Our experience of late is that that doesn't happen with any swiftness.

MR. STOLL:  Well, and --

MR. KING:  We can give an undertaking --

MR. STOLL:  I guess part of my concern is we are several months into the rate process here.  We had asked this question before.

And I am not saying it is not that you haven't followed up with the insurance company, but I am having a difficult time getting to a point where I can understand the evidence to make submissions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Maybe my question will assist, to some extent.

What may be of interest is the extent to which specific insurance coverages can be - pardon the expression, Mr. Todd - allocated exclusively to the operation of IGPC.

So that if you have an insurance -- insurance coverage that governs the assets or relates to the business interruption, or whatever other risks you may have identified, the extent to which they are attributable exclusively to the IGPC operation, that is of interest from a cost allocation point of view.  Although I understand your earlier evidence, Mr. Todd, to the effect that, Well, it may not be a -- it may not be possible to simply allocate -- I think you were using a rate base allocator, and the extent to which you would use that rate base allocator on a dollar-for-dollar basis is one kind of analysis.

But there is another analysis that I think Mr. Stoll was getting at, which was:  Why wouldn't you subtract those assets from the rate base and allocate accordingly?

And that may or may not be consistent with cost allocation methodology, but it may be of interest --

MR. STOLL:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- is kind of the point.  Do you get my question?

MR. STOLL:  Thank you.

MR. TODD:  We can verify that.  And from a cost allocation perspective, I think what you are -- just to make sure I understand your question clearly, from a cost allocation perspective, if the policy was put into place kind of as a consequence of adding this one customer, but the coverage is actually for all business interruption, then that may be an indicator of the appropriate allocation of those costs.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The extent of the coverages is going to be of interest no matter how we look at it.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But I think -- I think that is right.  But I think we would like to know the extent to which policies are directed specifically to IGPC and how that may flavour the cost allocation associated with those insurance costs.

MR. TODD:  I understand the undertaking, I think.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Believe me, it is a simple concept, because that is all I am capable of.

MR. MILLAR:  That is undertaking J2.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION OF THE EXTENT TO WHICH INSURANCE POLICIES ARE DIRECTED SPECIFICALLY TO IGPC AND HOW THAT MAY AFFECT THE COST ALLOCATION ASSOCIATED WITH THOSE INSURANCE COSTS.

MR. TODD:  Does that cover the ground, Mr. Stoll, or is there anything further?

MR. STOLL:  I think we are there on insurance.  And there is one other allocation issue.  It is the allocation of the ANG.  I think, to correct you, the allocation is based on revenue requirement, if I am not misspeaking, right, revenue requirement?

And it is a follow-up to IGPC IR 66, and we asked about the allocation of ANG and there were a number of factors listed.  And we come up with a 31.5 percent allocation, subject to check, if you want.

My understanding of the numbers is the direct assignment to IGPC is 1.457 million.  So 1,457,900, and that number includes the Union Gas demand and Union Gas delivery.

I think if you go to Exhibit G3, tab 2, schedule 1, sheet 2.2?

MR. KING:  Say that again?

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  Okay.  Exhibit G3, tab 2, schedule 1, sheet 1.3.

MR. KING:  1.3?

MR. STOLL:  1.3, I think, if my colleague got the right reference.

The inclusion of Union Gas delivery and demand would total approximately 330 for IGPC, out of the 1,457 that I mentioned earlier.

MR. TODD:  Given that there was some discussion prior to coming up on the stand, would it expedite the process if I jump to an explanation of the issue as I understand it, and point out that we are in the process of reviewing it?

MR. STOLL:  How be I lead into that, and we can maybe work the undertaking around?

Okay.  It is our interpretation that the allocation factor, where IGPC is in the numerator, includes Union Gas demand and delivery.

In the denominator, the Union Gas-related demand and delivery for all of the other customers is omitted, excluded, and you end up with a number of $4,627,900.

But that number includes the Union Gas-related delivery and demand charges pertaining to IGPC.

So what I am suggesting is that a more consistent allocation would remove the Union Gas delivery from the entire equation, so we would adjust it accordingly.

So the IGPC number would decrease from 1,457,000 by the 337 -- the 330,000 related to Union Gas.

And that number would also come out of the denominator of 4,600,000, to be consistent with excluding the other customers. Union Gas-related demand and delivery charges.

MR. TODD:  Okay.  When I heard that explanation, I was confused.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I apologize.  That's why I provided –-

MR. TODD:  That's okay.  However, it triggered me to sort of go through and look go at the numbers.

Let me make explain and make sure that you and your advisors agree with what I intend to look at.  Okay?

If we start -- I started at Exhibit I, tab 4, page 71, which is the response to IGPC 66.  And it identifies the costs that are included in coming up with the allocator used for A&G.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  It includes a direct assignment of IGPC.

MR. STOLL:  Right.  And --

MR. TODD:  The number that is used as direct assignment to IGPC includes the Union Gas delivery and Union Gas demand costs.

MR. STOLL:  Correct.

MR. TODD:  Okay?  The allocator, in general, if we turn to Exhibit G3, tab 2, schedule 1, sheet 3.1, line 51, has the allocated A&G.

It does not specify an allocator under "factor" which all of the other lines -- does have a factor identified.

And I apologize there is a lack of transparency, because the allocation factors listed on sheet 3.2 does not include the allocator for A&G, but it is the revenue -- it is revenue requirement, exclusive of Union Gas delivery and Union Gas demand, which is appropriate because those are not drivers of A&G costs.

Your concern is that in the list of --

MR. STOLL:  The direct assignment.

MR. TODD:  In total, when it includes direct assignment of IGPC, which does embed those costs.

So you're saying that's an inconsistency?

MR. STOLL:  Correct.

MR. TODD:  In putting that explanation to myself, I say:  Good point.  I want to go back and look at it further.  And as an undertaking, we will respond.

The methodology, being the legacy methodology, carried through, this allocator was there in the legacy model.  It is still there.

The treatment of Rate 6, IGPC was based on Rate 3.  And certainly -- but it may be consistent with the way it was done before, but if it was done wrong, we should correct it.

And in principle, the first cut, it sounds like a good point, but I would like to look at it more closely.

MR. STOLL:  I appreciate that.  So do you -- does Mr. Millar have a sufficient understanding of the undertaking?

MR. MILLAR:  I don't, no.

[Laughter.]

MR. TODD:  The undertaking -- let's make it simple.  The undertaking is to review the allocation of A&G, as shown on Exhibit G3, tab 2, schedule 1, sheet 3.1, line 51, to consider whether the allocator should exclude Union Gas delivery and Union Gas demand from the component which is direct assignment to IGPC.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J2.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.7:  TO REVIEW THE ALLOCATION OF A&G AS SHOWN ON EXHIBIT G3, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 1, SHEET 3.1, LINE 51, TO CONSIDER WHETHER ALLOCATOR SHOULD EXCLUDE UNION GAS DELIVERY AND UNION GAS DEMAND FROM COMPONENT WHICH IS DIRECT ASSIGNMENT TO IGPC.

MR. TODD:  Satisfactory on that point?

MR. STOLL:  I think good now.  I apologize for my fumbling around with the terminology.

MR. TODD:  It was my slowness, and I thought you were talking about just that the definitions of rate base were inconsistent.

MR. STOLL:  No.

MR. TODD:  But I now see what you're getting at.  Thanks for the help from you and your very able assistants.

MR. STOLL:  Well, somebody has to understand cost allocation.

MR. TODD:  Fortunately for us who do do it, not too many people do.

[Laughter.]

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  So I will pass it on to Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Buonaguro?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.

Officially, good afternoon, panel.

I would just like to start by resolving some of my confusion from, well, what we just heard, not on the last issue but on the first issue with respect to insurance.

I am just going to start from the perspective of someone who doesn't necessarily understand cost allocation the way the panel might.

Reading from Exhibit G1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 1 of 3, which is the first page of the summary of how the updates to the cost allocation were done, at line 12, just a short quote and I think it just forms sort of the starting point, from my understanding.

MR. TODD:  Sorry, I missed that cite.  Where are we?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Exhibit G1, tab 2, schedule 1.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Page 1.

MR. TODD:  Page 1, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All I am looking at is under the head line "Applicable Cost Allocation Principles".

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And just reading from that, it says:
"The cost causality principle requires that the customer or customer class that causes the utility to incur a cost should pay rates that recover those costs and that no other customer or customer class bear responsibility for such costs."


Now, my reading, that is sort of the fundamental starting point for anything you do under cost allocation; is that correct?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  Subject to the variances in revenue, cost ratios that deviate from 1.0, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  In particular, when you are trying to directly assign costs, you are looking at a cost that was solely caused by a particular, in this case, rate class.  If you determine that there is 100 percent causal relationship between that rate class and that cost, you allocate that cost directly to that rate class?

MR. TODD:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in the case of insurance, if we go to OEB Interrogatory No. 20, I am looking at --

MR. TODD:  You are looking at the appendix?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I think it is the last one.  There is no page -- I think it is officially page 29 of the exhibit, but it says -- at the top, it says "OEB Interrogatory No. 20", and it has a breakdown for 2011 of the coverage amounts in premiums for each of the insurance, categories of insurance, and percentage allocated to IGPC.

Do you see that one?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so just to make sure we are all on the same page, this one has 2011 column for coverage and premium, and at the very bottom of the "premium" column, it says 284,925.

MR. TODD:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Under IGPC, it has a total allocated cost of two numbers, 200,846, and then the second number underneath, which is 197,962.

MR. TODD:  Okay.  Sorry.  We have two versions.  We have to look at the update of the 40 percent.

So, yes.  So 197,962 versus which number?

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then that is the subtotal attributable to IGPC.  Then the number I have above that is 200,846.  Quite frankly, I don't know where that came from, but that happens to be on my interrogatory response.  I am using the electronic version.

MR. TODD:  Sorry, it is 202,496?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.

MR. TODD:  What is the number?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have a number above the black line that says 200,846, and then the number below the line says 197,962.  I think that second number is the correct number, because that is the number that we keep talking about.

MR. TODD:  The 197,962 is the correct number.

The one above it doesn't appear in the version I am looking at right now, so...

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am using the electronic version.  So I am going to assume the 200,846 is a remnant of something and the correct number is 197,962, because that is what we -- that is the number I think that appears in the other interrogatory response.

MR. TODD:  In the rate application, there have been some corrections.  There may be a number above it.  There is in mine a different number above it, which represents an updated calculation of the actual number, and what is in the rate application is a little bit less.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. TODD:  So...

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  It is my purpose to make sure we are using the same table, because I don't need the numbers specifically.  I think these are close enough for my purposes.

So along the side of the interrogatory response, it lists out all of the different types of insurance that have been allocated one way or another to IGPC.

So when we are looking at the direct allocations, we look at allocator 100 percent for the additional umbrella liability, the business interruption insurance, transfer stations.

MR. TODD:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess this is a question for the company for clarification.  My understanding is that up until IGPC became a customer, the company didn't have any one of these three insurances?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the only reason that the company sought a quote and obtained insurance and they're paying the premiums for those three types of insurance is because IGPC became a customer?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if IGPC stopped being a customer tomorrow and the pipeline fell out of rate base because it was no longer used and useful, you would presumably seek to cancel those three levels of insurance, because you no longer needed them?

MS. O'MEARA:  Well, I think we would still have to have some form of insurance.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You would have the -- there's also the existing insurance, but I am talking about the three -- the three areas of insurance which were 100 percent attributable to IGPC in the cost allocation model, the additional umbrella liability, the business interruption insurance and transfer stations.

Let me put it this way.  It wouldn't be a cost that you would then attribute to other rate classes, because they didn't cause it.  Maybe that is a question --

MR. TODD:  To clarify, we have an undertaking to look at the policies and what they cover, and I think that the distinction I tried to draw in the comment earlier was that it is conceivable - we have to check and find out - that NRG had no business interruption insurance prior to the IGPC line.

But it is also conceivable that having triggered and gone into getting business interruption insurance, that actually got business interruption insurance that covered everything it is doing and conceptually could have had that for other business previously.

And that raises a question, from a cost allocation perspective, as to whether the dollars that are being spent on that insurance, in fact, is entirely attributable to IGPC or not.  And that is what the undertaking will address.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that is interesting.  I think that that speaks to my confusion, because my understanding, some of the give and take between you and Mr. Stoll seemed to be a difference in terms of whether somebody caused the costs and whether somebody benefitted from the costs.

Is that at least a partial characterization of some of the evidence you were giving?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  And cause could be, the way I would look at it:  Was the cause the cumulative total risk or the one risk?

So if you got insurance to cover a risk and there is previously a small risk, and now you have added some risk, and now the total risk is something you are worried about, so suddenly you now get an insurance policy, arguably it was caused by the total risk of all of the components contributing to it, not by the incremental risk.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  You know what I'm saying?  So you say I live with one thing in the past.  I add -- it now becomes bigger.  I now say, You know what?  I need some insurance to cover it.  Does that mean it is really caused by the incremental risk?  I think there is a judgment call there.  But what is it really caused by?  That is what allocation is all about, that really everything is contributing to the cause.

And I am saying, conceivably, this is the way the logic goes.  We don't know the answer to that until we get the response to the undertaking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Can I build on that for a second, Mr. Buonaguro?

Mr. Todd, would part of the analysis to determine whether or not it is the cumulative effect and whether it is the proverbial straw that broke the camel's back sort of thing that takes you over that point, is if you look at the incremental in isolation, and would you insure that in isolation as opposed to in absence of what you originally started with?

MR. TODD:  Well, a tricky part would be, as a thought running through my mind, when you go to an insurance company, you can't necessarily cover an incremental risk.  You know, risk is coverage at times in a certain way, but, yes, you could look at that and say -- and that is really I think what the undertaking is addressing is:  Is the insurance policy covering the business interruption risk of that line?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry, I wasn't being clear, then.

In your analysis, you were suggesting that if you have a comfort level, it's your comfort threshold that you cross over, and my question is:  Okay, yes, this particular client may have called NRG to go beyond its comfort level, but would the risk of the company itself be within a comfort level?

To look at it in reverse, that had they been stand-alone and that is the only risk -- that was the only business, was to serve that pipeline, would you seek insurance for that, because if you are looking at a cumulative effect, then it is -- okay, I think part of that is the proportionality of that cumulative effect.

MR. TODD:  Proportionality.  And each one alone may not have been sufficient risk to cause the coverage, only together, or it is possible that even on a stand-alone basis, that one factor would have been sufficient to force you into a policy, which perhaps the only option was a broader policy.  But, still, the only reason you have it is because of that --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Would that analysis leads you to a determination in a cost allocation application?

MR. TODD:  It potentially could.  That is where judgment comes into cost allocation.

And I suspect that the audit trail may not be that precise for us, from a cost allocation perspective, to say, Here is what it is really attributable to.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  That is why a judgment on fairness is ultimately part of the cost allocation model design.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Anything on that particular element?  Anything from the people whose comfort level we are discussing here, and want to comment on that?

MR. COWAN:  No.  I think that -- I'm sorry.  I think that the review that Mr. Todd suggests will give us a lot of direction.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

On that point, would you agree with me that it is possible that costs could be caused by one party -- in this case when we're talking about utilities, one rate class -- and yet the benefits -- benefits of those costs would be realized by others, including that person?

So for example, like the example we keep talking about here is business interruption insurance as an example.  It is possible that the proper cause of the -- for cost allocation purposes is the -- is one rate class.  But the nature of insurance is such that when you buy it, it happens to apply to everybody else.  That doesn't necessarily -- so everybody may benefit from it, but the cause is properly attributable to the one.

I say that because it -- the discussion seemed to be leading down the road of a benefits-based analysis of cost allocation, which is specifically not, I believe, what you are doing?

MR. TODD:  I was not going down the path of a benefits-based analysis.

Let me clarify the following way.

If, let's say, the risk, this coverage -- we're talking about business interruption was a coverage -- actually it doesn't have a dollar amount beside it, but say it is coverage for a million dollars potential business interruption.

And there is a premium attached to that.  The trigger -- if the trigger to get that insurance was the higher risk because of the IGPC pipeline, but you are required to get coverage, which in a sense, the -- if on the stand-alone basis you had just the one pipeline, and you would have only needed $750,00 in coverage and you could have got that, but because the insurance company said you got to cover everything, and now you need a million dollars in coverage, so your premium is attributable really to 750,000 to the IGPC pipeline, and 250,000 to the other pipeline, and that is the way the premium is set and that was your only choice, I would say from a cost-causality perspective, three-quarters of the cost was caused by IGPC and 25 percent was caused by others, because it is what is causing the dollars that you spend, right?

So -- and the existence of the business as a whole may cause you to be paying a higher premium and having a higher policy, in which case it would be split between the two.

Even though you wouldn't have a policy at all, except for the IGPC pipeline.  So it is not the cause of the policy.  It is the cause of the costs.

Do you follow what I am saying?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Mm-hmm.

MR. TODD:  So you take the premium amount.  What is causing the premium to be what it is?  That is the cost-causality aspects I would be looking at.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Briefly, just above that, there is the 59 percent allocation.  You probably already said this once today, but what was the allocator of that, that resulted in 59 percent?

MR. TODD:  That was volumetric.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. TODD:  And then the insurance letter says, based on risk analysis, it is 40 percent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Presumably, you have done other cost allocations where you have allocated the costs of insurance?

MR. TODD:  Off-hand, I cannot think of any cost allocation I have done where we have broken down different sort of cost allocation or different insurance components, so as finely as this.

This is a fairly unique circumstance, I think, because of the scale of one customer relative to NRG.

Normally, insurance is just allocated across everybody as a lump sum.  You do not have this direct allocation of insurance.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When it is normally done, on what basis is it allocated?

MR. TODD:  The residual amount that is in A&G would be, I would say, fairly typical.  It is just an administrative and general, which -- your package of insurance policies are covering all aspects of the business.  There's many different policies.

I can't think off-hand of any attempt to sort of break it down more finely.  It is not worth the trouble, from a cost perspective.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Millar, did you have -- how long do you plan on being, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  I will certainly be less than half an hour and probably 20 minutes or less, I would think.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The Board has an engagement at 12:30 and unfortunately -- I have a few questions myself, actually, and I hate to –- it would have been nice to finish up with this panel before lunch, but we may not be able to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  I have more than five minutes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps before we go to Mr. Millar, then, we will have to break for lunch, unfortunately.

We will come back at 1:30 and proceed then.

And then that would be it for this panel, then, Mr. King?  And that would it be for the day?

MR. KING:  That would it be for the day.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, okay.  Well, with that, and if that is okay with you, Mr. Millar, we will hear you at 1:30.

Okay.  Thank you very much.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:39 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

I think when we left off, Mr. Millar, you were just about to start.

One preliminary matter, and we will deal with it before I forget again.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  The matter of the interim rates was raised on Tuesday and again this morning, and the Panel has concluded that, yes, interim rates will take place -- will be put in place as of October 1st, 2010.  That is the existing rates will be declared interim as of October 1st, 2010.

Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


Mr. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, panel.

I have two areas.  I am going to start with some follow-up on a couple of insurance issues and I hope this won't take too long, because I am a bit of a novice with insurance issues.

To assist with the discussion, it might be helpful if you pulled up Staff Interrogatory No. 20, and in particular, the attachment, attachment A to that interrogatory.  It comes just after page 29 in Exhibit 1, tab 1 (sic).

MR. STOLL:  Mr. Millar, could you give the last page again?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  It comes just after page 29 on Exhibit I, tab 1.  It is Staff IR No. 20, and it is an attachment to the response.  It is a chart.

Do you have that?

MR. TODD:  We have it.

MR. MILLAR:  It is a two-page attachment?

MR. TODD:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am looking at the second page of that attachment.  And as I understand this, this is essentially a summary of the insurance costs?

MR. TODD:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  So if we look under 2008, do I see that the total cost there is just over 180,000?  Is that correct?

MR. TODD:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that would have been allocated to all NRG ratepayers, but excluding IGPC; is that correct?  Because IGPC was not yet a customer?

MR. TODD:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Correct?  Sorry?

MR. TODD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

And if we look over to 2011, the total premium is now up to just under 285,000; is that correct?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And IGPC has been -- I guess we will....

[Construction noise.]

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Viraney will have words with the construction staff.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Everybody is a critic.

[Laughter.]

MR. TODD:  To clarify, the last rate case for NRG was 2006.  So it wouldn't have been that amount, the 2008 amount that was allocated, but comparable amounts.

MR. MILLAR:  It would have been close?

MR. TODD:  In the last rate case, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I will use that number, if you don't mind.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  As I was saying, the total premium for 2011 forecast to be just under 285,000; is that right?

MR. TODD:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And IGPC has been allocated just under 198,000 of that; is that correct?

MR. TODD:  Yes, subject to the adjustments talked about today.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But it would be in that range?

MR. TODD:  In that range, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And so --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Millar, just hold for one minute.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  I am not sure if there is just, like, an adding mistake, but is the 5,100 included in the –- like, when we added it up we got the 200 and change by adding -- excluding the 5,000.  I am not sure the total tracks.

MR. MILLAR:  I think for the purpose of my question, the exact number is not important.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I will continue.  If this becomes a problem, we can address it, but really a few thousand either way doesn't make much difference for my question.

So if we assume -- whether it is 197 or 200,000 or whatever it is, I take it that the balance of that amount, the balance of the 285,000 would be allocated to the rest of NRG's ratepayers; is that correct?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  I mean, the allocation of that difference really flows from the lines above --

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. TODD:  -- the totals.  Not the total amount, yes, because these different components are allocated in different ways.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough, but the balance is paid for by the rest of NRG's ratepayers?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  By my simple math, that means that the non-IGPC ratepayers are being allocated approximately $90,000 for insurance costs in 2011?

MR. TODD:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And so that is approximately half of what they were paying in 2008?  180,000 to 90,000, something in that range?

MR. TODD:  Ballpark, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And has there been any change to the coverage with respect to these non-IGPC ratepayers?

MR. TODD:  As has been pointed out, when you talk other customers, it includes other things, including ancillary sales, which we will call a customer for the purposes of this discussion.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  I understand.

But have I got that right – sorry, has there been any additional coverage with respect to those ratepayers, as we have defined them?

MR. COWAN:  Perhaps I could respond.

The policies -- as I understand it, the policies that are written does not distinguish, with the exception of the umbrella, between rate classes.

It's just liability insurance.

MR. MILLAR:  So I guess my question is:  Would all of the non-IGPC ratepayers be benefiting from the same insurance they were in 2008?  Has there been a change in the coverage?

MR. COWAN:  I believe that they're not any -- in any worse position.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So they're not any worse?  Are they any better?

There is this business interruption insurance.  Is that new?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.  Business interruption is new.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if anything, there is more coverage than there was?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  There is not less?

MR. TODD:  Except it's -- the business interruption insurance, subject to the undertaking from this morning, may have no benefit for the other customers.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Understood.  But it is not less coverage?

MR. TODD:  But the coverages on the items in the upper half of the chart, if you look at the coverages, they are either identical or somewhat changed.

So property insurance has gone up in total.  That's related to Beech Street and so on.  Equipment floater has gone down slightly, the coverage amount.

So if you are referring to the coverages, general liability coverage and umbrella liability are identical, but now covering more.  But in effect, there is some risk diversification, which is why the same amounts can cover more broadly.

MR. MILLAR:  My point is they're not worse off.  There is not less coverage than there was?  I think I heard that that was agreed to.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess my question, then, is:  Does it not seem an odd result that the amounts allocated to them have dropped by either 50 percent or 100 percent -- have been cut in half, even though there has been no change in coverage?  Does that seem an odd result to you?

MR. TODD:  From a cost-allocation perspective and a fairness perspective, I would say no.

If you have a -- mains which are half full one year, and a new customer comes on and those mains become full the next year, the costs allocated to the customers that previously existed would decline by 50 percent.

I mean, so the same insurance policies are now being spread across a larger customer base.  And it is appropriate that for the other customer classes -- other than IGPC -- that the amount allocated to them goes down, because now it is being shared more broadly, and that IGPC is now picking up a share of those basic policies which always existed.  That is the way scale works.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  I think what you said earlier assists me in understanding this, that there are -- the insurance is not broken out class-by-class, so you can't allocate directly to the class; is that correct?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  It is not allocated directly.  It is allocated on the basis of an allocator, like most other common costs.

MR. MILLAR:  You did look at this when you did your analysis?  Or you did consider this, when you saw that the costs dropped by 50 percent --

MR. TODD:  That's the normal result when you add in a significant additional customer.

MR. MILLAR:  That is an expected result, then?

MR. TODD:  That is an expected result.

MR. MILLAR:  That doesn't give you any trouble?

MR. TODD:  Exactly the same as mains.  If the cost stays the same, but the number of customer classes or the number of customers you're spreading over increases, the per-customer cost goes down.  If you add a new customer you do not say they get to use the system for free.

MR. MILLAR:  Agreed.

MR. TODD:  In the same way, IGPC cannot benefit from that existing coverage for free.  They now contribute to a share of those costs.  Standard process.

MR. MILLAR:  Is the -- are the insurance costs allocated on volumes; is that how it is done?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. TODD:  Looking down the chart, the -- in this response, as the numbers stand for the first three items with an allocator of 31.5 percent, that was based on the NRG allocator of rate base.

The second grouping down where there is 59 percent was based on volumes; right?  And we are -- now there is agreement that will be changed based on assessment made by the insurance -- insurer to be based on risk as opposed to volume.

And the other three are based on the direct allocation, as has been discussed, and are subject to an undertaking to review those.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  That is helpful.  Just a couple of other quick tidy-up questions.

With regard to the business interruption insurance, was that something that IGPC asked for or something that NRG wanted?

MR. TODD:  NRG.

MR. MILLAR:  NRG, okay.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And was the possibility ever explored of IGPC getting insurance on its own as opposed to doing it through the utility?  Was that something that was on the table?

MR. TODD:  Firstly, to clarify that question, because when you're talking about the business interruption insurance, per se, which is a loss to NRG, in a force majeure situation where IGPC would have no obligation, is that what you are referring to?  Because -- I mean, what do you mean IGPC getting insurance itself, because it doesn't need any insurance -- or not having to pay anybody.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, you understand insurance a lot better than I do, but NRG -- pardon me, IGPC has been allocated certain costs for certain insurance coverage.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Which provides certain protection.  Was it a possibility that IGPC go out itself and obtain all of that same protection and thereby not require NRG to get any insurance on its behalf?

MR. TODD:  The protection is for NRG.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. TODD:  Right.  So it would be unusual, in my experience, for, you know, IGPC to get a policy which is payable to NRG, the benefits, in the event that NRG's business is interrupted and IGPC doesn't have to pay its bills.

If there were no force majeure clause, then the liability in that situation would have been on IGPC, and then it would have made sense for them to look at --

MR. MILLAR:  But there is it a force majeure --

MR. TODD:  -- in order to make those monthly payments, although they can't get gas.

MR. MILLAR:  In your view, that is not really an option.  It might be possible, but it would be unusual?

MR. TODD:  I don't really see it as the normal way of doing insurance.  Whether it is considered, I don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  Does anyone from NRG have anything to add to that?

MR. COWAN:  No, I don't think so.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that was not an option that was on the table, IGPC getting its own insurance and leaving NRG out of it?

MR. COWAN:  We have suggested that, but we didn't take it very far, and I think the initial response -- and I defer to Mr. Stoll's comments.  I think the initial response was that they were not interested in going in that direction, but this is all hearsay, as far as I am concerned, and I can't comment.

MR. MILLAR:  You can tell me it was an option that was not pursued?

MR. COWAN:  No, I can't.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, you can't tell me or it was not pursued?

MR. COWAN:  I can't tell you.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.

MR. STOLL:  I am not aware of it being discussed at all, as far as this goes with my client, so...

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  I will move on.

I am going to move to my second topic area, and these are -- you filed or NRG filed certain undertaking responses yesterday.

Do you have a copy of those undertakings?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I did want to ask some follow-up questions.  I guess I am fortunate we have the same witnesses on the second panel.  I guess we will try to continue here.

I am referring to undertaking J1.10, if you could pull that up.  This relates to the gas sold by NRG Corp., which is the related company to NRG.  Do you have that?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it seems, from this undertaking response, that NRG Corp. is, in fact, using NRG's distribution system for transportation.  Is that correct?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And they're not paying for it; is that correct?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.  I should clarify that the amount of gas that we do sell to Union Gas, I have been there a couple of years and I have only seen it done one summer where there was a bit of excess gas that we ended up selling to Union Gas.  So it is not under the normal course.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That leads me to one of my questions.  I would like to get an undertaking describing the volumes that have been sold by NRG Corp. to a third party using NRG's distribution system for the last five years, since, I don't know, 2004/2005.  Is that possible?

MS. O'MEARA:  I think we can go back that far, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I would ask for 2004, if can be done.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That is undertaking J2.8.

MR. MILLAR:  On a fiscal year basis, if you don't mind?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.8:  TO PROVIDE GAS VOLUMES THAT HAVE BEEN SOLD BY NRG CORP. TO A THIRD PARTY USING NRG'S DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM SINCE 2004 ON A FISCAL YEAR BASIS.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You would agree would me, normally, if you are transporting gas, you would charge for that.  Is that a fair statement?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you -- was this -- was the fact that NRG was transporting gas to a third party -- from a related party to a third party ever brought to the Board's attention, to your knowledge?

MS. O'MEARA:  I can't answer that.  I don't know.  Not to my knowledge.

MR. MILLAR:  You don't know?

MS. O'MEARA:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Just so I had understand how this works, my understanding is that had there been a transportation rate and had that rate been used, had someone availed themselves of that rate, ordinarily the revenues from that transportation rate would be used as an offset to the revenue requirement.  Is that typically how it would work?  It would be a form of other revenue, as I understand it?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.  I would think it would be a form of other revenue.

MR. TODD:  Recognize that of course that would normally be considered on a forecast basis, and, therefore, you would have to forecast those volumes to include them in the revenue requirement and include them in the rate-setting process.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, of course.  But however it is calculated --

MR. TODD:  If it is a predictable amount, that would be included in that, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Or you could use a deferral account, I suppose, if they were really --

MR. TODD:  Or there could be a deferral account, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So, essentially, has NRG Corp. been using NRG's distribution system essentially at the expense of ratepayers for the past however many years?

MS. O'MEARA:  I would have to go back to the last rates hearing and see what they actually put in their application, if they had put any --

MR. MILLAR:  There is no transportation rate currently, so presumably there are no revenues from such a rate.  Okay, I --

MS. O'MEARA:  I would have to agree with that assumption, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You are not proposing a transportation rate in this rates application?

MS. O'MEARA:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  But would you agree with me that you should have a transportation rate if you are going to transport gas?

MS. O'MEARA:  If we are going to.  Again, the last time that occurred was probably 14, 15 months ago.  It is not the intention right now to sell it to Union Gas in the future.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, fair enough, that we -- there actually are some discussions on what is going to happen with IRM, but you may not be back here for four or five years.  That's a possibility; correct?

MS. O'MEARA:  True.

MR. MILLAR:  Ordinarily, you should have, if not a forecast of transportation revenue, then at least I would suggest a deferral account; is that fair enough?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's fair enough.

MR. MILLAR:  And ordinarily we would use the forecast of those revenues as an offset against the revenue requirement.  Does NRG propose to -- can you propose a suitable transportation rate?  Just to be clear, Board Staff will be suggesting that you should have a transportation rate, and personally neither Mr. Viraney or I are experts at creating such rates.  So we will be -- maybe I can do this by way of undertaking.  I am wondering if you can propose a transportation rate.

MS. O'MEARA:  By way of undertaking, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So that will be J2.8.  I understand that this --

MR. TODD:  Sorry, may I interject?  Presumably what you are looking for is a cost-based rate, which means including that as a class of revenue within the cost allocation model.

MR. MILLAR:  I suppose so.  I guess I would leave it to --

MR. TODD:  This implies a revision to the cost allocation model, which is not -- you know, if it is a cost-based rate.

MR. MILLAR:  That is a good point.

MR. TODD:  It is also possible to come up with some market-based rate.  If there is an undertaking, perhaps that leaves it to the company, then, to propose a basis for the rate?

MR. MILLAR:  I would be -- what I want is a proposal from the company, essentially, and whether it is a cost-based rate or a market-based rate, I would like them to justify what their proposal is.  I understand there would be a problem with cost allocation if we had a -- not a problem, but there would have to be a recalculation, I guess, if this was a cost-based rate, assuming there was more than a de minimus amount of revenue from it.

MR. TODD:  Yes.  It would be another rate class in the model, which flows through the entire model, which would require an update to the model, which is not a one-hour task.

MR. MILLAR:  No.  Understood.

MR. TODD:  It is significant.

MR. MILLAR:  So I guess we will see what NRG can propose, but Staff will be seeking some recognition of the fact that there may well be revenue from transportation.

I understand from Undertaking J1.10 that the gas flows from NRG system through a different system owned by Greentree Gas and Oil Ltd.; is that correct?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it this is a non-rate regulated utility?  I have never heard of them, so...

MS. O'MEARA:  I would say, then, you are probably right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Do you happen to know what their transportation rate is?

MS. O'MEARA:  I can get you that, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If you wouldn't mind, I would like that by way of undertaking, as J2.9, as I think that might serve as -- possibly as a benchmark for a rate that NRG might charge.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.9:  TO PROVIDE TRANSPORTATION RATE OF GREENTREE GAS & OIL LTD.

MR. MILLAR:  I think there might be problems if you used Union directly, for example.  I can see that this would be a difficult rate to calculate, so that might be interesting for us to know.

Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.
Questions by the Board:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  There is one area I would like to pick up on that Mr. Millar had discussed, and this goes back to the insurance allocations.

I am looking at the letter.  I think this was -– well, it was in response to J1.1 just referred to.

It is the letter from Zurich, and this is the letter we have been talking about that re-establishes the percentage of allocation at 40 as opposed to 59, I understand.

And I am just trying to understand what analysis or what type of analysis, if you are aware, that Zurich may have applied to make that assessment.

MR. COWAN:  I'm sorry, sir, we can't help you.  We got this letter just yesterday or the day before, and we haven't had a chance to talk to them about it.

And it is not helpful, I agree, but...

MR. QUESNELLE:  What I want to pursue a little bit as to what the allocation and the appropriateness of the allocator as volume, and what other options are there.  To drop it from 59 to 40, obviously, volume is no longer the allocator for this element?

MR. COWAN:  That took us by surprise, and I am hopeful that what Mr. Todd is going to review and help us with will be able to speak to that.  And we will certainly talk to both the broker -- it is difficult to speak directly to the insurers now.  They don't want to have anything to do with the people that are paying the premiums.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I understand the -- and ultimately the ratepayers are paying it, so I think they should be able to understand, from a cost-allocation perspective, how these premiums are being allocated and how they're being assessed.

And I think one of the things that comes up, and they're referring in the letter that:

"While we envision the chance of loss to be greater from a residential than commercial operations..."

And it's difficult to understand on what basis, other than, perhaps, its location and activity within that area.  If the nature of the loss is one of potential for there to be a damage to the line, through construction or whatever, that that may be more -- a higher incidence of that in an urban setting than a rural setting, perhaps.  I don't know.

MR. COWAN:  I looked at that, sir, and I thought maybe they're talking about a loss of life in a neighbourhood or something of that nature.  But it didn't make direct sense to me, the comment.  So we've got to do some homework.

As I say -- and I am not misleading the Panel, am I, by saying we got this yesterday?

MS. O'MEARA:  Two or three days ago, I would say.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I understand from your testimony on Tuesday that it was expected later that day, so –-

MR. COEWAN:  Right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You didn't have it on Tuesday, so --

MR. COWAN:  No, we didn't have it on Tuesday.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So any order, the way to look at it, you've just recently received it, so I understand that.

But I think that in that, the legacy model had allocators of volume used for this type of insurance; is that correct?

MR. TODD:  That's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So on that basis, then, if we are going to rely on the previous basis, we've got this letter now from the insurance company, which reduces it but gives no underpinning rationale as to what the allocator is now.

And I would like to explore that a little bit, and perhaps with Mr. Todd specifically as to his understanding of -- you mentioned earlier not having to take a look at insurance per se and look at a lot of various allocations, because typically you don't have the incident where you've got such a proportional issue of one customer having such a high degree of impact in proportion to the rest of the customers.

But on this type of insurance, even at the numbers 59 and 40, a substantial amount, it strikes me that the volume of throughput is not a very realistic allocator.  And I would ask you to comment on this assumption, that in respect -- with respect to the fact that the loss would occur if there was damage through construction, and that is the typical type of loss we have been looking at in looking at this asset, that you would have an accidental puncture, dig-in, to the line, that even at a no-flow state and if the customer was basically, for all intents and purposes, closed for business but just had gas there for auxiliary kind of needs, that the flows do not determine the risk of a puncture, that, perhaps, that the life of line would be a better exposure; the variable would be the amount of line versus the amount of gas flowing through it.

Because when there is a puncture, the gas isn't coming from the ethanol plant.  It is coming from upstream.  So even when there are no flows, there could be no flows for years, if it is on potential, if it has pressurized, the flows that would occur are from upstream.

So I am failing to see the variable of volume being a good allocator for risk of accidental dig-in, as opposed to -- and what I would put to you and ask you to comment perhaps, Mr. Todd, is we know this is a line which is isolated.  It is isolated for good reason.  It operates at a different pressure.  And so it is a discrete line, 28.5 kilometres.  And we certainly know the rest of the system in kilometres, that perhaps that would be, as far as exposure taken, the urban-rural variable that may exist -– and that is arguable -- you could take that out and just do a simple mathematical equation of the proportion of this line compared to the rest of the line, and say:  Okay, that is a better allocator as far as the risk of this type anyway.

Any comment on that?

MR. TODD:  First of all, I think that the best allocator is -- would be based on risk.

I don't think Elenchus, I don't think other cost allocation people, actually, you know, in this field, have the risk expertise to do what the insurer has presumably done, which is to look at it on the basis of the risk for different categories of customers.

Which is why, when the letter came in, frankly, I was very quick to accept their numbers as saying they are experts in risk.  Presumably, their assessment is based on their expertise in risk issues, and their judgment as to the relative risks.

In the absence of that -- which is where I think your question is really at -- was our previous -- is our embedded allocator a good one?

I was thinking of the, in a sense, risk issue a little bit differently.  If I was hearing your question correctly, the implication was that the liability related to damage to the pipe.

I guess I was thinking of the liability coverage of more -- damage resulting from -- sort of damage, broader damage, resulting from -- liability related to the damage to the pipe, such as an explosion, fire, the things that can happen when there is damage to a pipe, which are much more significant than the costs of repairing the pipe itself.

And a pipe with no gas through it has little risk related to that, shall we say, collateral damage in the event of damage to the pipe itself.

And in a sense, volume is not a bad proxy for the risk, shall we say, to the neighbourhood of damage due to an explosion or fire, or whatever happens.

If we are just talking about, in a sense, the probability of an incident, I would agree it probably is more related to kilometres of pipe, and that may be factored in, as well, where the pipe is located.  Clearly if nobody is digging in the area, the risk of damage is very low.

You can have ground shifts.  I mean, Terasen has had a couple of problems where, just through shifting of the soils and so on, they end up with pipe breaks, and at least one very incident as a result of that.  So it is not always digging issues, but even that kind of issue, too, is obviously related to kilometres of pipe.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The variable there would be how much exposure would be -- how much pipe do you have to be affected that way, yes.

MR. TODD:  So the probability of an incident I agree would be related to kilometres of pipe.

The significance of an incident, though, would be driven by other factors.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  And I think the higher pressure, the severity of the loss due to the higher pressure may be the case.

Would you agree that another mitigating factor in the risk analysis would also be the inspection regime established for this pipeline based on its higher risk due to pressure?  In that --

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Part of that takes a look at coverages on a regular basis.

MR. TODD:  Corrosion damage, yes.  The risk of something happening is related to how tightly you maintain and monitor.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

I suppose all of these items, then, tend to move you away from the volumetric choice as an allocator more to a risk base, and that is your statement, that this should be a risk approach to the allocation, then?

MR. TODD:  And, admittedly, we did not take a very sophisticated approach to trying to assess the risks, and volume was chosen as one way that seemed reasonable to look at it.

With the -- you know, the primacy in my head was scale of damage as opposed to probability of damage, but I would concede probably the two should be taken into account together.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The scale of damage, as that relates to the throughput, again, the gas comes from upstream when there is a puncture, not what the company would typically demand.  So it is more really a pressure issue as opposed to a usage issue?

MR. TODD:  Pressure in pipe diameters, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, all right.  That was the only area I wanted to explore further.  Thank you very much.

Mr. King, any re-direct?  You didn't have anything?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No.

MR. KING:  I have none, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, very good.  I think that concludes what we need, then, from this panel.
Procedural Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  We have an issue that we have been discussing as it has arisen in our deliberations the last few days, and is related to the evidence that's been brought forward before us and hearing the parties' positions on various things, is the administrative penalty.

I think it would be good for the Board to inform all parties - mind you, it is just NRG and the Board that are the two that are involved in this directly, obviously - that the Board is considering its position as it relates to the administrative penalty, and there may be a change on that.

So it is not something that we care to go further on that at this point, but the Board is reviewing its position as it relates to the administrative penalty that was administered back two years ago now, I guess it is, three years ago now.  So I just want to leave the parties with that and not go much further with that.  But there is a potential that that amount of money may come away from the debate, and so that is what we are considering.  And we will get back to the parties promptly on that and we will be sitting again tomorrow.

If we have an opportunity to discuss that further, we will.  Okay.  Anything else?

I had a request, and I don't know if parties have been canvassed on this, as to the availability of people to start tomorrow morning at 9 o'clock as opposed to 9:30.  I don't know if there is any --

MR. MILLAR:  I did review that with the parties, Mr. Quesnelle, and I can confirm everyone is available for 9 o'clock.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That's great.

I have business that will take me from 10:30 to about 11 o'clock, so we will have an extended recess tomorrow morning and that allows us to take a little extra, you know, time before the break.  So that is what we will do.

So we will adjourn until 9 o'clock tomorrow morning.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:15 p.m.
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